Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take
no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in

reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(in provisional liquidation)
(for restructuring purposes only)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 509)

2020 ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT

The Board of Directors of the Company is pleased to announce the audited results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the twelve months period ended 31 December 2020. This
announcement, containing the full text of the 2020 Annual Report of the Company, is
prepared with reference to the relevant requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in relation to preliminary
announcements of annual results. Printed version of the Company’s 2020 Annual Report
will be delivered to the Company’s shareholders and will also be available for viewing on
the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at http://www.hkex.com.hk
and of the Company at http://www.centurysunshine.com.hk on 9 April 2021.

By Order of the Board
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(in provisional liquidation)
(for restructuring purposes only)
Shum Sai Chit
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021

As at the date of this announcement, the Directors are:
Executive Directors : Mr. Chi Wen Fu, Mr. Shum Sai Chit and Mr. Chi Jing Chao
Non-executive Director : Mr. Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-executive Directors : Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit
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LISTING INFORMATION

Listing : Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
Stock code : 509

SHARE INFORMATION

Company’s shares of
HK$0.02 each
(the “Shares”) in issue
(81 December 2020)

: 4,681,116,843 Shares

Market capitalisation . HK$311,515,945

(81 December 2020)

Board lot size : 5,000 Shares

LOSS PER SHARE FOR 2020

. HK16.27 cents
. HK16.27 cents

Basic
Diluted

DIVIDEND PER SHARE FOR 2020

Interim : NIL
Final (proposed) : NIL
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SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICES

Principal:

Suite 3204, Unit 2A

Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 15686, Gardenia Court
Camana Bay

Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

Hong Kong:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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| would like to thank all for the unfailing support and the total confidence in Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”). On behalf of the
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, | am pleased to present the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of our shareholders.

In 2020, the unprecedented COVID-19 outbreak hit the global economy severely. The International Monetary
Fund (IMF) has continuously lowered its forecasts on global economic growth. It is anticipated that the global
economy would shrink by 4.4% in 2020, which is about 7 times of the decline in 2009, representing the worst
recession since the Great Depression in the 1930s. As the major economy, being highly successful in controlling
the pandemic, resuming work and production, and the only one achieving positive economic growth, China has
become the most prominent country of the world economy. With the promotion of the coronavirus vaccine globally,
the turning point of the pandemic will be revealed. However, the pandemic prevention and control measures would
be the new-normal. The unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic and the great recession of the world economy are
evident that the year 2020 was a very extraordinary year.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In the short term, the unexpected pandemic has severely affected the agriculture and the chain in agricultural
sector. Due to the implementation of different social distancing measures in different areas during the pandemic,
certain farmers have slowed down farming and fertilisation activities. Some products could not be shipped to
certain rural areas. It has delayed the procurement and application of agricultural goods. In the third quarter of
2020, severe rainstorms and floods hit Southern China, affecting a wide area and lasted for a long time. More
than 70 million people’s farmland was flooded. Due to the significant seasonal characteristics of farming, the spring
plowing and summer planting seasons in 2020 were affected by the pandemic and floods respectively. As such,
the Group’s business performance was adversely impacted. The Group achieved the revenue of approximately
HK$2,151,811,000 during the Year. The loss after tax was approximately HK$984,205,000, and the overall gross
profit margin recorded 14.1%.
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However, in the long run, it is well known that the fertiliser is the “food” to grain. The fertiliser is important and
indispensable to improve the nutrition of crops and thus, increase production volumes and enhance incomes of
farmers. China is the world’s largest fertiliser producer and consumer. The growth of the fertiliser industry has
provided a solid foundation for the sustainable development of China’s agriculture and national economy. The No.
1 Central Documents issued by the PRC Government for the past ten consecutive years were all about “Issues
Concerning Agriculture, Rural Areas and Farmers”. These policies provide good directives and support for the
development of the fertiliser industry.

PROGRESS IN A CHANGING ENVIRONMENT

The “Action Plan for Zero Growth of Fertiliser Use by 2020” issued by the Ministry of Agriculture restricts the
overall application of chemical fertilisers, requires the adjustment of the structure of fertiliser application, and greatly
promotes the new high-efficiency and environmentally-friendly fertilisers. Since the establishment, the Group’s green
ecological fertiliser segment has been committed to developing and promoting new green fertilisers. The Group
has the patented technology of “Hongri” type of spray granulation originated from the “Father of China’s Sulphur-
based Fertiliser”. The Group has “Yanyangtian (%5 K) ” + “Zhan Lan (JE£85)” “Le He He (%M ) ” and other
reputable brands, a huge size of loyal customers, as well as the state-level agricultural-chemical services center.
After the resumption of production, the agricultural-chemical service teams conducted training sessions online
and offline for business personnel, distributors, large growers, and farmers. It has improved their scientific planting
skills, implementing the ancillary agricultural-chemical services. Under the adverse business environment, the only
way to achieve long-term sustainable development and transformation is to strengthen the core competitiveness
of the Group.
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The Group’s another main segment of the magnesium product business is operated by the Group’s subsidiary, Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (“REMT”). Due to the severe hit on the industrial chain by
the global pandemic, overseas automobile manufacturing plants and parts processing enterprises have been shut
down. The market demand for magnesium products has remained weak. Hence, the negative impact on REMT
is also apparent. However, since REMT owns 22 technical patents of the production processes and preparation
methods for high-performance magnesium alloys, coupled with the competitive advantages and customer base
accumulated over the years, the driving force for long-term development for REMT remains.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our shareholders, management team, staff members, and business
partners for their support and contributions to the Group during the Year. In 2021, the Company will continue to
innovate in technology, products, and marketing models; abide by the business philosophy and social mission;
seek development through innovation; seek win-win results in development; stay true to the original aspiration,
strive to bring benefits to all stakeholders; and create a better future!

Chi Wen Fu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”),
the Group recorded an overall revenue of HK$2,151,811,000
(2019: HK$4,314,420,000), representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 50.1%, with an overall gross
profit margin of 14.1% (2019: 24.6%). The loss after tax was
HK$984,205,000, representing a decrease of approximately
329.8% as compared with HK$428,254,000 of the same period
of last year. Revenue from the fertiliser business during the Year
was HK$1,378,985,000 (2019: HK$2,735,195,000), representing
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 49.6%, which was
mainly because of the slow-down of farming and fertilisation
activities by farmers. It results from the combined effect of
the COVID-19 epidemic and the flood disaster in Southern
China. Revenue from the magnesium product business held
by the Group through REMT was HK$744,836,000 (2019:
HK$1,515,291,000) during the Year, representing a vyear-
on-year decrease of approximately 50.8%. Average gross
profit margin was approximately 17.5% (2019: 27.5%). For
REMT, the decrease in revenue is mainly due to the global
epidemic outbreak causing the suspension and shutdown of
overseas processing factories, which is the downstream of the
magnesium industrial chain. It has led to the decline in market
demand, and hence, the supply side of the industrial chain is
under pressure.

“"RELOCATION OF INDUSTRIES FROM CITY
URBAN AREA TO INDUSTRIAL PARKS"” BY
SHANDONG HONGRI

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited
(“Shandong Hongri”) has cooperated with Luozhuang District
Government of Linyi City to respond to the requirements of
“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” (“the Plan”). Shandong Hongri is benefited from the
relevant policies of the Shandong Provincial Government on
the Plan. All plants have been gradually demolished since
the launch of the Plan in the second half of 2019 to date.
Shandong Hongri is closely discussing with the local authorities
for further instructions to propel the implementation of the Plan
as soon as possible.

In accordance with the relevant policies of the Shandong
Provincial Government on the Plan, Shandong Hongri can use
the land where the plant is originally located, for changing
the industrial use of the land after obtaining approval. The
Company expects to benefit from the value appreciation after
the change of use of the land, and reap additional gains. But
the use of the land after the change will eventually hinge upon
the approval of relevant authorities in the PRC.
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KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

Unaudited key operational data for the Year, together with the
comparative figures for the corresponding period in 2019, is
as follows. Main businesses listed below contributed over 98%
of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

(a) Sales volume of major products:

2020 2019 VS
g M Decrease
Tonnes Tonnes %
BEPRPHER Fertiliser business 616,661 1,091,589 (43.5)
EEmMER Magnesium product 39,156 60,559 (35.3)
business
TEEMZFHEE: (b) Average selling price of major products:
2020 2019 VS
7 7T, W 7 T Decrease
HKS$/Tonne HK$/Tonne %
BEPRPHER Fertiliser business 2,236 2,506 (10.8)
EEMED Magnesium product 18,951 25,022 (24.3)
business
EFE: (c) Gross profit margin:
2020 2019 VR
Decrease
Percentage
% % point
BEPRHER Fertiliser business 12.8 22,5 9.7)
BREMmES Magnesium product 17.5 27.5 (10.0)
business
AEBZEFZE  The Group’s gross profit 14.1 24.6 (10.5)

margin

17
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OPERATING INCOME AND GROSS PROFIT

Contribution of revenue by our Group’s dual core businesses:
fertiliser business and magnesium product business accounted
for similar proportion as compared to last year, representing
64.1% and 34.6% (2019: 63.4% and 35.1%) respectively.

During the Year, the revenue of fertiliser business was
approximately HK$1,378,985,000 (2019: HK$2,735,195,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 49.6%.
The overall gross profit margin decreased by 9.7 percentage
points to 12.8%. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to
the implementation of social distancing measure during the
epidemic in 1H2020 and the server rainstorms and floods in
Southern China during the third quarter of 2020, seriously
affecting the spring plowing and summer planting. It has
delayed the procurement and application of agricultural goods.
As such, the total sales volume of our fertilisers decreased to
616,661 tonnes for the Year as compared to 1,091,589 tonnes
for 2019, which adversely impacts the results of the Group for
2020.

During the Year, the revenue of magnesium product business
was approximately HK$744,836,000 (2019: HK$1,515,291,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 50.8%.
The overall gross profit margin decreased by 10.0 percentage
points to 17.5%. The decrease in revenue was mainly due
to the spread of the global epidemic outbreak, in response
to which governments of all countries carried out stringent
prevention and control measures. It has once, led to the
suspension of production of real enterprises, the pressure
on the supply and demand sides of the industrial chain, the
weak market demand, and the low magnesium price. As
such, the total sales volume of products of our magnesium
product business decreased to 39,156 tonnes for the Year as
compared to 60,559 tonnes for 2019 that seriously impacts
the results of the Group for 2020.

OTHER NET GAINS OR LOSSES

Other net gains or losses were approximately HK$60,309,000,
a decrease of approximately 30.4% year-on-year, which was
mainly due to disposal of property, plant and equipment, being
recorded a loss of HK$8,781,000 for the Year, as compared
to a profit of approximately HK$42,089,000 for last year.
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SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses of approximately
HK$55,377,000 (2019: HK$107,917,000) accounted for
approximately 2.6% (2019: 2.5%) of revenue, which mainly
consisted of market operating expenses and sales staff
salaries, and sales and distribution expenses. During the
special period of the epidemic, the Group has carried out
flexible model of marketing. The agricultural-chemical service
teams conduct training sessions online and offline for business
personnel, distributors, large growers, and farmers. It has
improved their scientific planting skills, implementing the
ancillary agricultural-chemical services.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses mainly included staff compensation,
depreciation and amortisation, auditing and professional
expenses. Administrative expenses for the Year were
approximately HK$237,492,000 (2019: HK$295,171,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 19.5% year-on-
year. The decrease was mainly resulted from the closure of
Shangdong Hongri factories thereby saving on reduced staff
and operating costs during the Year.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$179,501,000,
representing an increase of approximately 16.8% year-on-
year. The increase in finance costs were mainly due to default
interests recognised subsequent to the cross default of certain
debts of the Group during the Year.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense for the Year was approximately
HK$56,222,000, representing a decrease of approximately
65.6% year-on-year, which mainly due to the decrease in
revenue.

19
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NON-RECURRING ITEMS

During the Year, the Group recognised the following written-
off, impairment and allowance on assets in aggregate of
HK$853,464,000 (2019: HK$3,134,000):

1.

Written-off of property, plant and equipment
As disclosed in the 2019 annual report of the Company,
Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited (“Shandong Hongri”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, which is located
in Linyi City, Shandong Province. Shandong Hongri
is working with the local government to realise the
vision of being “innovative, harmonious, green, open
and sharing”, to speed up modern industrialisation, to
promote the structural optimisation and to rezone the
control of industrial area as an ecological city. To this
end, Shandong Hongri initiated the implementation of
the Plan in 2019 and steadily transferred the production
from Shandong to the production bases of Jiangsu
and Jiangxi, and scientifically and reasonably adjust the
production plan, so to achieve the overall sales targets,
and satisfy customers’ needs.

Upon completion of the transfer of production, Shandong
Hongri dismantled those establishments and cleared the
site in the state ready for development as required by
the local government. Therefore, the Group recognised
a loss on written off of approximately HK$659,451,000
which was mainly for those buildings, fixtures and fittings,
and obsoleted equipment dismantled and demolished
while the rest of approximately HK$549,000 for other
sites, in aggregate of approximately HK$660,000,000
(2019: HKS$NIl). For details, please see Note 16 to the
financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

Due to the global epidemic, the performance of the
Group’s magnesium product business has been severely
affected, together with its cross defaults on certain debts
during the Year, the Group recognised an impairment
of goodwill of approximately HK$46,028,000 while the
rest of approximately HK$224,000 for other business
in aggregate of approximately HK$46,252,000 (2019:
HK$NIl). For details, please see Note 20 to the financial
statements.
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3. Allowance for expected credit losses on trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits
Under HKFRS 9, companies are required to account for
what they expect the loss to be on the day they raise
the invoice — and they revise their estimate of that loss
until the date they get paid. The concept of expected
credit losses (ECLs) means that companies are required
to look at how current and future economic conditions
impact the amount of loss. However, it does not mean
that such losses had actually occurred nor should have
been happen in coming years. Instead, ECLs reflect
information available at reporting date and it should need
to be assessed at each financial year. An independent
professional valuer was engaged by the Group to assess
the ECLs for the trade receivables, other receivable
and deposits as at 31 December 2020. Affected by the
COVID-19 epidemic and floods in 2020, the Group’s
fertiliser business receivables collection was significantly
delayed. Therefore, an allowance of approximately
HK$147,212,000 (2019: HK$3,134,000) was made for the
Year. For details, please see Notes 26 and 27 to the
financial statements.

MARGIN

During the Year, the Group’s after-tax loss was
approximately HK$984,205,000 (2019: profit of approximately
HK$428,254,000), representing a decrease of approximately
329.8% vyear-on-year. If excluding the above non-recurring
items of approximately HK$853,464,000 (2019: HK$3,134,000),
the adjusted after-tax loss from operations for the Year was
approximately HK$130,741,000, while that of last year was
a profit of approximately HK$431,388,000. The reverse was
mainly due to the hit on the demand and supply sides of
the industrial chain as driven by the combined effect of the
epidemic and the flood disaster in spring ploughing and
summer planting seasons in 2020 respectively. As such,
the Group’s overall business performance was adversely
impacted.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
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POSSIBLE DEBT RESTRUCTURING AND THE
APPOINTMENT OF JOINT PROVISIONAL
LIQUIDATORS FOR RESTRUCTURING
PURPOSES

Historically, the Group has enjoyed strong growth and
profitability over a number of years in its fertiliser business,
metallurgical flux business, and magnesium product business.
However, the raging COVID-19 outbreak and the Chinese
Government’s epidemic prevention and control measures have
led to key businesses either not operating normally or only
operating on a limited basis. These conditions had resulted
in slower orders and longer receivable collection cycles and
has led to a material reduction in the Group’s profitability
and liquidity in the first half of 2020. This, coupled with the
spread of the epidemic, and the rising tensions between the
United States of America and mainland China have adversely
affected the Company’s ability to refinance the Notes and
other borrowings, leading to the default in its redemption
of its subordinated notes in aggregate principal amount of
SGD101,750,000 that matured on 3 July 2020.

In order to facilitate a restructuring of its debts with the benefit
of a statutory moratorium prohibiting the commencement or
continuance of any proceedings against the Company without
the leave of court, the Company has filed on 2 July 2020
(Cayman lIslands time) to the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands (the “Grand Court”) a winding up petition (“Petition”)
together with the application for the appointment of Mr. Yen
Ching Wai David and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young
Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd.,
and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd. (collectively, the
‘JPLs”) as the “light-touch” joint provisional liquidators of the
Company for restructuring purposes, with the power to act
jointly and severally. REMT, the subsidiary of the Company,
has also made a similar application to the Supreme Court of
Bermuda for the same purpose.

A “light touch” basis is that the Board will retain management
of the Company and maintain the operation of the Group, while
the JPLs will work alongside the Company’s management
to monitor, supervise, and oversee the implementation of a
group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of its debts
and liabilities including to maintain the listing of the Company
on the Stock Exchange.

The JPLs Application was heard before the Grand Court on
14 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time). The Grand Court granted
an order that the JPLs have been appointed with immediate
effect.
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On 18 August 2020, the Grand Court issued a letter of request
(“LOR”) to the High Court of Hong Kong for the recognition
of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong Kong to,
inter alia, develop and propose a restructuring plan to allow
the Company to continue as a going concern. The Grand
Court also accepted the resignation of one of the JPLs, Mr.
Yen Ching Wai David on the same day. The JPLs appointment
order remains in force in respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy
Karina Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as JPLs. An application
has been filed by the JPLs to the High Court of Hong Kong
on 26 August 2020 for the recognition of the appointment
and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 28 August
2020, the High Court of Hong Kong has approved the said
application.

On 15 October 2020 (Cayman Islands time), after the
application of JPLs, the Grand Court has further ordered
that the hearing of the Petition be adjourned to be heard on
Monday, 19 April 2021 (Cayman Islands time).

An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High Court
of the Republic of Singapore (the “Singapore High Court”) on
28 October 2020 for the recognition of the appointment and
powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 30 November
2020, the Singapore High Court has approved the said
application.

During the Year, the JPLs have held the creditors’ meeting with
creditors who have registered their rights, and have formed the
creditors’ committee for consultation purposes and to assist
the JPLs regarding the formulation of the debt restructuring
plan. Any determination and implementation of such plan shall
be subject to the agreement of the majority of creditors at the
meeting and the orders granted by the Grand Court and the
High Court of Hong Kong.

On 28 December 2020, the Singapore Noteholders have
established the informal steering committee (the "ISC”). On 7
March 2021, the ISC has appointed an independent financial
advisor (the "IFA”), who sits on the creditors’ committee,
together with the ISC, to proceed the follow-up work.

The Company is also taking various measures to improve and
strengthen the operation and management of the Group. These
measures include (i) restructuring internal capital and debt,
and seeking potential investors to participate in fundraising
plans; and/or (i) taking further cost control measures on capital
investment and operation to reduce the overall operating costs
of the Group. The Company is committed to continuing seeking
positive feedbacks from creditors to support the plan.
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The Company will make further announcements in respect of
any substantial development of the restructuring plan.

VALIDATION ORDER

Pursuant to Section 99 of the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, any disposition of the property of the Company, including
things in action, and any transfer of shares of the Company
(the “Shares”), or alteration in the status of the members of
the Company, made after the commencement of the winding
up, shall, unless the Grand Court otherwise orders, be void.

The Board has sought the legal counsel’s advice and after due
and careful consideration of Company’s current circumstances
and state of affairs, it is of the view that there is currently no
need to apply for a validation order at this stage. The Company
will evaluate the situation from time to time and take such steps
as may be required as circumstances evolve.

Further announcement(s) in relation to any material
development of the Petition will be made by the Company as
and when appropriate.

LIQUIDITY, LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity in 2020 was mainly derived from cash
generated from business operations and financing activities
during the Year. As at 31 December 2020, total amount of
bank and cash balances of the Group was approximately
HK$173,654,000 (2019: HK$832,662,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total borrowings
(including the Exchange Bonds reclassified during the
Year) of approximately HK$2,140,789,000 decreased
by approximately 1.8% as compared to that of 2019 of
approximately HK$2,180,883,000, while net assets decreased
by approximately 16.0% as compared to 2019. The Group’s
gearing ratio (calculated by total borrowings over total assets)
was approximately 30.9% in 2020 (2019: 28.6%).
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PROSPECT

The No. 1 Central Document issued by the PRC Government
for the past ten consecutive years has been all about “Issues
Concerning Agriculture, Rural Areas and Farmers”, in which
the high-quality and ecological development is promoted for
the agriculture and rural areas. Since the establishment of
the Company, we have been upholding “to Enhance Crop
Productivity and Soil Fertility” as our mission, and focusing on
the green industry. Our general fertilisers, ecological fertilisers
and functional fertilisers comply with the industrial policies of the
Chinese Government, which encourages the utilisation of green
ecological fertilisers. We are determined to make unremitting
efforts into the high-quality green development of agriculture
and rural areas, and to ensure a stable and safe food supply.

In 2020, with the recession of the global economy, all
industries have suffered. This year marked a challenging
year for the operation and management of enterprises. The
Company worked together to fight against the epidemic. Our
R&D team continued to innovate technology and products/
production. Under the premise of strict protection, we
ensured the orderly resumption of work and production at the
production bases, and maintained the stable production and
sales operation.

Looking ahead into 2021, the Company will be cautious on the
development of existing business. We will make progress amid
changes based on our solid foundation laid by the operation
and expansion from the past 20 years. In the research and
development, production, marketing, and other sections of the
enterprise operation, we will accumulate strength to explore in
the agricultural market of the green ecological fertilisers, and
to pursue a new high-quality ecosystem of green development
in the post-epidemic era.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had pledge of its assets,
details of which are disclosed in Notes 28 and 32 to the
financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, other than those disclosed in Note
39 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
material capital commitments.

25
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, other than those disclosed in Note
44 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the issued share capital of the
Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into 4,581,116,843
shares of HK$0.02 each.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin
Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit method,
and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or
required. Only simple infrastructure works for open-pit mining
are involved in the development activities, and no underground
exploration or structural works are involved. The dolomite
mined is raw material for producing magnesium products of
the Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production
base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the
Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2019, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were
determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity mined to
calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There
is no material change in the assumptions of estimation by
the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The
resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the Group’s
internal geological experts. For the year ended 31 December
2020, there was no dolomite output. As compared with the
state as at 31 December 2019, there was no material change
in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine
during the Year.

During 2020, the expenditures incurred in mining activities
were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy, transportation,
depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have
been included in cost of sales and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for 2020.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities, exploration
activities and development activities of dolomite for the year
ended 31 December 2020 were HKS$NIl.
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Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-
pit method, and therefore no additional exploration works are
involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for open-
pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no
underground exploration or structural works are involved. The
serpentine mined is sold directly as metallurgical flux for iron
and steel smelting and is raw material for producing silicon
magnesium fertilisers of the Group. The transportation cost for
raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of the
mine to the production base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the Serpentine Mine was reported
under the JORC system when it was acquired in 2010. As
at 31 December 2020, the anticipated resource and reserve
volumes were determined based on the volume at the time
of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity mined to
calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There
is no material change in the assumptions of estimation by
the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The
resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the Group’s
internal geological experts. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group completed a serpentine output of 288,757
tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31 December 2019,
there was no material change in the resource estimate and
ore reserve of the serpentine mine.

The expenditures incurred for 2020 in development activities
were mainly CAPEX for transformation of dust control of the
blasting system. Such expenditures have been capitalised and
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
for 2020. The expenditures incurred in mining activities were
mainly for direct wages, materials, energy, transportation,
depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have
been included in cost of sales and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for 2020.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining activities
of serpentine for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
approximately HK$7,480,000 and HK$24,494,000 respectively
while the expenditures incurred in exploration were HK$NIil.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s
businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the movement
in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates, and
interest rates. The management of our Group keeps continually
monitoring these exposures closely to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner
against such risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from primarily with respect to Renminbi,
HK$, Singapore dollars, US$ and Australian dollars. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign
operations. The Group does not presently hedge the foreign
exchange risks. The Group periodically reviews liquid assets
and liabilities held in currencies other than HK$ to evaluate
its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of
hedging instruments when necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when
appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure
of our customers. The Group strictly followed the “client
account management procedures” established in 2004. The
procedures required and ensured that all clients were regularly
assessed and be kept track of their transaction records and
credit history. The Group specified and assigned to each
customer, as according to their operation and credit status, a
series of credit measures such as credit ratio, credit period,
credit rating, credit terms and guarantee. The client account
management procedures were effective to control the credit
risk of the Group.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with functional departments of the Group
and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group is to guide
their standard operating procedures, limits of authority
and reporting framework. Our management will assess
key operational exposures and effect raised in business
development regularly, implement relevant measures and
improve the internal control so that risk can be responded and
mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of
its return period relative to the expected return or occurrence
of losses on any particular investment attributable to changes
of external factors. The Group is well aware of importance
of exploring various business opportunities and territories on
a continual basis, and also implement as the top agenda of
the year. Key concern of projects investment framework will
be balancing risk and return across different investments,
and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision process. Proper investment assessment and due
diligence procedures have been set up and detailed analysis
will be made before approving investments. Regular updates
on the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.
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Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the
Group’s rapid business development while at the same time
facing severe competition over specialists from the industry
and turnover of manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not
being able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents with
appropriate and required skills, experience and competence
to cope with the expansion of business which would meet
the business objectives of our Group. Our Group will conduct
a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as
incentive mechanism and optimise the compensation structure
so as to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably
with market standard and maintain its competitiveness.
Meanwhile, recruitment channels are broadened and the
talent pool of senior management are strengthened, so as to
further enhance the promotion opportunities and career path
of employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and
the dissemination of good corporate cultures.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means
increasing attention of PRC government paid to environmental
rules and policies and more strict regulatory requirements. As
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises commenced into
operation for a long while and lag behind certain environmental
and duty requirements promulgated by PRC government.
The Group monitors impact on business development closely
raised from movements of environmental policy and external
factors. Acting in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to
improving and maintaining the long term sustainability of the
communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient
use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction. Green
initiatives and measures have been adopted in daily operation
of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources,
energy saving measures and water saving practices.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the Company
is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in
mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this report, to the best
of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately
1,670 (2019: approximately 2,350) as at 31 December 2020.
The remuneration of employees was determined by the Group
with reference to their performance, work experience and
current market conditions. Employee benefits include medical
insurance, defined provident fund scheme, discretionary bonus
and employee share option scheme. There has been no labour
dispute or significant change in the number of employees
that affect the normal operations of the Group. The Directors
believe that the Group maintains admirable relations with its
employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors
and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with
our key stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated
corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities from time to time, such as annual/
extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and
road-shows. Accordingly, our senior management have kept
good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared
business latest update about development of the Group with
them when appropriate. During the Year, there was no material
dispute between our Group and its business partners or
banks.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHI Wen Fu, aged 58, Chairman of the Group who is
responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in
which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi
joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998,
Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural
production and funded a R&D project on microbial compound
fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical Analysis and Law.
Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

SHUM Sai Chit, aged 63, Chief Executive Officer of the
Group who is responsible for business operations. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing Director
of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in
manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In
1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and Export
Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and exporting
of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of Consumer
Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum has joined the
Group since January 2002. Mr. Shum is currently an executive
director of REMT.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 38, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
of the Group who is responsible for the overall corporate
activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate
affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative
Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August 2004.
Mr. Chi is currently an executive director of REMT.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

GUO Mengyong, aged 62, is a Deputy General Manager
of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development
Company Limited. He is responsible for electronic
engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng
Wireless Technology Development Company Limited is
principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors
Factory as a Technician in 1976. From 1993 onwards, Mr. Guo
worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as an Engineer
and later promoted to the Deputy Factory Manager in 1996, in
charging of technical quality control. In 2000, Mr. Guo joined
Fujian Wireless Group Company as Deputy General Manager
and was responsible for quality management. He is a graduate
of Industrial Enterprise Management. Mr. Guo has joined the
Group since February 2011.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHEUNG Sound Poon, aged 60, is currently an
independent non-executive director of Rare Earth. Mr. Cheung
is currently a senior audit manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA).
He was an audit senior at Gary W.K. Yam & Co. (CPA). Mr.
Cheung has over 40 years of experience in accounting and
auditing. He was an independent non-executive director and
the chairman of audit committee of the board of the Company
between February 2004 and May 2007.

SHENG Hong, aged 58, Director of SWIFTOWN
Development Limited and General Manager of SWIFTOWN
(Shanghai) Trading Limited. The SWIFTOWN Group is
principally engaged in design and sales of metallic products.
Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in management
of corporation and investment. He was employed by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to
1996. Mr. Sheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in Engineering
Mechanics from Tongji University, Shanghai.
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LAU Chi Kit, aged 76, an executive director of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997). He retired
from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited (“HSBC”) in December 2000 after more than 35 years
of service. Among the major positions in HSBC, he was the
assistant general manager and head of Personal Banking Hong
Kong and assistant general manager and head of Strategic
Implementation, Asia-Pacific Region. He is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers (“Institute”). He was the chairman
of the Institute’s Executive Committee (from January 1999
to December 2000). He is currently the honorary advisor of
the Institute’s Executive Committee. He served as a member
on a number of committees appointed by the Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, including the
Advisory Council on the Environment (from October 1998
to December 2001), the Advisory Committee on Human
Resources Development in the Financial Services Sector
(from June 2000 to May 2001), the Corruption Prevention
Advisory Committee of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (from January 2000 to December 2003), the
Environment and Conservation Fund Committee (from August
2000 to October 2006), the Innovation and Technology Fund
(Environment) Projects Vetting Committee (from January 2000
to December 2004) and the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy
Sub-committee (from February 1990 to March 2006). He also
served as chairman of the Business Environment Council
Limited (from September 1998 to December 2001). Currently,
he is also an independent non-executive director of Royale
Home Holdings Limited (stock code: 1198), Leoch International
Technology Limited (stock code: 842) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 6893).
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COMPANY SECRETARY

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 57, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is responsible for
financial, management accounting and secretarial affairs of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luk was appointed
as Financial Controller for several listed companies in Hong
Kong and was experienced in finance and management. Mr.
Luk holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde. He is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of
Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk
has joined the Group since May 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

WANG Yongxiang, aged 52, Production Director of the
Group, is responsible for the production management in ore
and fertiliser of the Group. Mr. Wang majored in planning and
surveying of mining industry with over 20 years of experience
in agricultural fertilisers production and mining. Prior to joining
the Group, he was the Production Technician and Engineer at
Donghai serpentine mine in Jiangsu Province, and the Head
of Sulfuric Acid Factory. Mr. Wang has joined the Group since
2007.

ZHU Guocai, aged 47, Sales Director of the Group, is
responsible for sales management in fertiliser business of the
Group. Mr. Zhu graduated from Jilin Agricultural University,
and has over 20 years of experience in the agricultural
management and marketing of fertiliser. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Zhu served as Regional Director and Deputy
General Manager of sales in Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint
Stock Company Limited. Mr. Zhu joined Shandong Hongri in
2000.
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ZHOU Jianhui, aged 48, is responsible for the safety
environment management of the fertiliser base of the Group.
Mr. Zhou majored in agriculture with over 20 vyears of
experience in agricultural fertilisers industries, and has served
in various positions, such as the Head of Fertiliser Factory and
Company General Manager. Mr. Zhou has joined the Group
since 2007.

LEE Man Ching, aged 41, Assistant to Chairman of the
Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of experience in human
resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Accountancy and a Master’s Degree
in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a fellow member of Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and an associate member of Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms. Lee has joined the
Group since August 2004.
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The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity. The
Board believes that good corporate governance will not only
improve management accountability and investors confidence,
but will lay a good foundation for the long-term development
of the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Throughout the year of 2020, the Company has complied with
the code provision as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report
under Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) except
for the following deviations as explained below with considered
reasons:

(@  Under code provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the Board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, the chairman of the Board was unable to attend the
annual general meetings held on 18 June 2020 and 30
June 2020 as he was obliged to be away for a business
engagement. Mr. Shum Sai Chit, chief executive officer
and executive Director of the Company, attended the
said annual general meeting to respond to queries from
shareholders.

(b)  Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should
also attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Lau Chi
Kit (being an independent non-executive Director) was
unable to attend the general meeting held on 18 June
2020 as he was obligated to be away for other business
engagement. Mr. Guo Mengyong (being a non-executive
Director) and Mr. Sheng Hong (being an independent
non-executive Director) was unable to attend the general
meetings held on and 18 June 2020 and 30 June 2020
as they were obliged to be away for business trips.
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THE BOARD

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible for
strategic leadership and overall supervision of the Group. The
Board exercises a number of authorities which include:

- Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

- Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

- Formulating strategies for risk management

- Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

- Approving financial results and public announcements

- Approving annual operating budgets

- Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

- Reviewing and approving major investments and material
borrowings

- Setting dividend policy

- Approving appointment of Directors

- Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to develop,
review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, to review and monitor training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors and to review the compliance of the Company with
the CG Code and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During the year of 2020, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the regulatory and statutory
requirements, and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During 2020, the Chairman had met the non-executive Director
and the independent non-executive Directors respectively and
individually without the presence of other executive Directors.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises 7 Directors in which 3 are executive
Directors; 1 is non-executive Director and 3 are independent
non-executive Directors. The number of independent non-
executive Directors constitutes more than one-third of the
Board. The composition of the Board as at the date of this
report and their profiles are set out on page 32 and page 34
of the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors for the
day-to-day management of the Group and the implementation
of major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board
whereas executive Directors should provide such explanations
and information to the Board in a timely manner to enable the
Board to monitor the performance of management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions as
well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the Board is
accountable for the interest of all shareholders and handles
matters in an objective manner. The 3 independent non-
executive Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for efficient and effective delivery of its functions. The
Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Chi Jing Chao have a family
relationship of uncle and nephew. Mr. Guo Mengyong is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu. Save as disclosed, there is
no other relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (ii) the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2020.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company
are Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Shum Sai Chit respectively. The
roles of chairman and the chief executive of the Company are
separate and exercised by two separate individuals.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who are suitably
qualified and expected to make a positive contribution to the
performance of the Board, will be identified by the existing
Directors and the Nomination Committee and submitted to the
Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation and every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every 3
years. Mr. Chi Wen Fu, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Guo Mengyong, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
fixed term of 2 years commencing from 1 April 2021, 1 April
2021, 1 April 2021 and 1 April 2020 respectively, subject to
the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
articles of association of the Company and save that either
such Director or the Company may terminate the appointment
by giving at least 3 months’ prior written notice. Annual
emoluments payable to independent non-executive Directors
and non-executive Director will be reviewed according to their
estimated time to be spent on the Company’s matters and
their working experience with the Company.
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Al existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the audited
consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to the owners
of the Company (after tax and non-controlling interests
and the payment of such management bonuses but before
extraordinary and exceptional items), which percentage shall
be determined by the Board provided that the aggregate
amount of the bonuses payable to all executive Directors in
respect of each financial year of the Company shall not exceed
5% of such net profit. The remuneration of each executive
Director is subject to the annual review of the Board with
reference to his/her contribution in terms of time, effort and
his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and senior
management during the year are disclosed in Note 13 to the
financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to the
Company and are eligible for share options under the share
option scheme of the Company.

BOARD PROCESSES

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads the
Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner. The
Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc meetings
for any specific matters that may arise.
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HITES Executive Directors

WX E(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)

ot 2 Shum Sai Chit

SR Chi Jing Chao

FHTES Non-Executive Director

FEE Guo Mengyong

BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors

REX Cheung Sound Poon

Bt Sheng Hong

EH Lau Chi Kit

The Board met 4 times in 2020. The attendance of individual
Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and general
meetings is set out in the following table:

il V8 YA -t |
Attended/held

Ezg EREEE REZE® FMzeg
L =E | =E | g3 BRRAE

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
5/5 - 1 - 0/2
5/5 - - 1 2/2
4/5 - - - 0/2
5/5 - - - 0/2
5/5 5/5 i 11 2/2
5/5 5/5 i /1 0/2
5/5 5/5 - 11 1/2
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Agendas and the accompanying board papers are circulated
in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the Board or
committee meeting. Board decisions will then be resolved
either by vote at Board meetings or by written resolutions. If a
substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by
a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees taken by the company secretary of the Company
and, together with any supporting papers, are available for
inspection to all Directors. The minutes record the matters
discussed by the Board or its committees, the decisions made
and any concerns or dissenting views raised by the Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, such
Director is required to declare his/her interest and abstain from
voting. Such matter shall be considered at a Board meeting
by Directors who have no material interest in the transaction
or proposal.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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RIEHEERHNDEE - 8EEN20201A18  According to the records provided by the Directors, the training

FE2020F 12 A3 1AM ZEZ A EINB M T received by each of the Directors during the period from 1
January 2020 up to 31 December 2020 is summarised as
follows:

HITES Executive Directors

X E Chi Wen Fu B

PR Shum Sai Chit B

kb Chi Jing Chao B

FEHITES Non-Executive Director

Eles Guo Mengyong B

BIYFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors

iR A Cheung Sound Poon A/B

BR 3t Sheng Hong B

2854 Lau Chi Kit B

B 3 notes:

A HEBELFIIRE A:  Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: HENRE  TIWEKEEARAEFRESEHESE B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
MEMF FTRKEMEREERERTE Company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities,
BREFENZNER the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable

regulatory requirements etc.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group to the senior management who is
required to report back to the Board. Functions reserved to
the Board and the management are reviewed periodically. The
Board and each individual Director is empowered to access
any Company’s information from senior management and
the company secretary at all times. The Directors are kept
informed on a timely basis of major changes that may affect
the Group’s businesses, including amendments on relevant
rules and regulations. During the year, Directors are provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, position
and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties. Directors are allowed to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company’s expense, but no request was made by any
Director for such independent professional advice in 2020.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of internal or
external auditor reports and feedbacks from stakeholders.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year, the Board has implemented a board diversity
policy which has been effective since 1 September 2013.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors.
Among which, one of them is a non-executive Director and
three of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors are of diverse educational background and possess
a wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business
experience. The Board is of significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, professional and educational
background and skills.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. The Company made specific enquiries to all
Directors and all Directors have confirmed in writing that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year.

BOARD’'S COMMITTEES

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), and
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). These
committees function within clearly defined terms of reference.
Independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in
these committees to ensure that independent and objective
views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.



EHREE

1)

ERZEERHAREANTE(ERZESLIRE)
BAFRERBEHRELEER  BREDRBIULIF
HWITEFE -MAZEEKEHARBABEERD
SRt MBER -

BRZEREEN20205 ARG LWEARRE
B E R SMNE R B i A AR B 2 B KA B A
EMBEE(INERZES M ELEMH) -
EREREEZBERT TNIIRE:

- EHAREZMBEBRRAMEETSREMHE
EERUHERL
- BEAREETAMREATEMRENBR

- BEARBZAMEELERER

- EHEXREGIREAFR
- BEAREZHERS
- ERREREINEZBEINEE

EZEeARCHBEHEANNTMNEE#E
THE  TEEREBTERESUIRALEANS
FKBIHEEER - REREBZARQFE E2020
FI2A3IAEFEZHBHRERA - EREEEE
EEZEMBEEESEHMASRMmrExe
5T R 352 <7 45 #0225 200 6 (1B F] ) < R E - BhiE &
2B ERFHEMEmMEL EMER -

F 4 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

TEXELCHRS
Corporate Governance Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Sheng Hong
and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, who are all independent non-executive
Directors. All committee members possess appropriate
qualifications such as accounting and financial management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2020 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out in
the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions of the
Audit Committee include the following matters:

- Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

- Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory and
statutory requirements

- Reviewing the Group’s
management

- Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

- Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

- Overseeing and managing the relationship with external
auditors

internal control and risk

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised to
obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary
for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee
has obtained a written confirmation from the auditors on
their independence and objectivity as required under the
Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants prior to the commencement of the audit of
the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out the
above functions in the respective Audit Committee meetings
and also has been satisfied with the review of the audit scope,
process, effectiveness and independence of the auditors. The
Audit Committee has reviewed and recommended to the Board
for approval of the interim and annual financial statements for
2020. There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee on the re-appointment of the auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4
members, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Shum Sai Chit (executive Director), Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Lau Chi
Kit (independent non-executive Director).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to formulate
transparent procedures for setting remuneration policies and
packages for Directors and the senior management of the
Group. Its duties include:

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and non-
executive Directors and the senior management of the
Group

- Reviewing the administration of the share option scheme
of the Company

- Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in 2020
to review the existing remuneration policies of the Directors
and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng Hong
(independent non-executive Director).

[ts duties include:

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

- Recommending any change to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategies

- Identifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

- Assessing independence of independent non-executive
Directors

- Making recommendation on appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

- developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination
of Board members

- developing and maintaining a board diversity policy and
to ensure its effectiveness

- monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations on
any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2020 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board, the Nomination
Committee will give adequate consideration to the board
diversity policy.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company had appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited also
provided non-audit services during the year. For the year
of 2020, the provisions of non-audit services mainly include
professional services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining the
appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

- No management decision made by the auditors
- Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
- Quality of service

- Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2020 are as follows:

FHET
HK$’000

BREENMEXAMERAT HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
B REZEBERE Audit and audit related services 2,110
EEZRE Non-audit services 764
B Total 2,874

AFEEZREHBRHEAMEHEMAERARE
% HEMSRABET R RBFAELE
W BREZEGCRAERTERER  NAKET
ZERRBERE LBREZETEFSARMEBHH
BRRBR/ARRE LA o

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation
of the financial statements for each financial period, which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
its subsidiaries and in compliance with the requirements of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing
Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the auditors’
report as set out on pages 72 to 75 of the annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal controls and risk management with a view to ensuring
that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets are
safeguarded. Such system is designated to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. This responsibility is
primarily fulfiled on its behalf by the Audit Committee. In
the year under review, the Audit Committee, as delegated
by the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control systems of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is a
solid control environment. This is dependent on the following
components:

- Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
- Quality and competence of its personnel;

- Direction provided by the Board; and

- Effectiveness of the management
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Group reviews
all significant control policies and procedures and highlights
all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group was
assisted by the Group’s internal audit department so that the
Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to the
Group’s operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these risks
and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the action plans.
These are on-going processes and our Audit Committee
reviews the Group’s risk management systems periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination of
risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could endure
and effectiveness of risk management measures. Based on
the reports from the Group’s internal control department and
the Audit Committee, the Board considers the Group’s risk
management and internal control system is adequate and
effective and the Group has complied with the provisions on
risk management and internal controls as set out in the CG
code.



EEREEAFTHENEFRAMEE

AEEBRERESRAREN(ESRBAEEG)
RETRAURE AEBEERESEAITH
BRATAARBEEARER  EERBESK
HERIMRENEIMNL2REERI - £E
HEEBRARKEN ASERREMERS
EHT - WAKBHRETEERLEZRTIE
EHAEDRERE  MAKESIRAAR
KREER - ARNAABWM R IEN T E2HE
BMYRAKFEIALEEEE  WAKEEHS
BRAMGBHAFENEEAFTET AL E
ERIXBEARENDXAEREAFTEMHLIR
EBRRREKD -

ERRBERREERE

ARBRARREBEBRATHRENEEN -
ARFNBREEERRMEBRRA T ESH
BEREEFHEROEM -

2RBRRAARFRTHNEMNRRASHGE
BEEBN EENZEEKEANEE LR
HERREHNEMHREELRE - AARER
BEMARARARWUESTE THRR M HHRE
FABEKAPEEG - RRITAMKGEARARA 2RE
EHAKENTEEFT S IEMNMBEFELEM
W HBEENER T XRREN - RE
EREhEm RN K-

F 4 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

TEXELCHRS
Corporate Governance Report

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot
be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements or circulars is not false or
misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information
in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure
of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s policy
to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed of all major
corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query raised
by the shareholders. Major information of the Company could
be obtained from the Company’s website or financial reports
and circulars sent to the shareholders. Any enquiries by the
shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can also be sent
in writing to the Investor Relations Manager of the Company
whose contact details are set out in the paragraph headed
“Shareholders’ Rights — (c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board”
below.
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Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman of
the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which relates
purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted
by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting a poll will be
explained to the shareholders at each general meeting and
questions from shareholders regarding the voting procedures
will be answered. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively
in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the results
announcement and attend conferences with institutional
investors and analysts to engage in two-way communications
on the Company’s performance, objectives and developments.
Company visits can be arranged by the Company upon
specific request.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General

Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company
at the Company’s head office and principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Suite 1104, 11th Floor,
Tower 6, The Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such request may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of the requisitionist(s).

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon the confirmation
of the branch share registrar that the request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with all relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements to all registered
members. On the contrary, if the request is verified
as not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general
meeting will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law or the articles of association
of the Company. Shareholders who wish to propose
a resolution may request the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.
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(c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing for the attention
of Investor Relations Director of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

Suite 1104, 11th Floor

Tower 6, The Gateway

9 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk

The Investor Relations Director of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns to
the Board and/or relevant committees of the Board to
answer the shareholders’ questions where appropriate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company and
has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical details of Mr.
Luk are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

At the Company’s last annual general meeting held on 30 June
2020, all the resolutions relating to the adoption of financial
statements, re-election of Directors, reappointment of auditors
and grant of general mandates to issue and repurchase shares
have been duly passed. The forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held on 30 June
2021 or any other dates as specified in further notice of
annual general meeting to be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange later.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020, which are set out on pages 76 to
207.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries
are shown under Note 24 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating segments
is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements. During the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group mainly
operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue are mainly
derived from the PRC and non-current assets of the Group are
mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019. No analysis of the Group’s result and assets
by geographical area is disclosed.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 76 to 77.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 16 to 21
of the annual report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 208 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 36 to the financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

(a) Share options granted to directors and
selected employees
For share options granted, exercised and lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2020, details are set out
in Note 38 of the financial statements and the section
named “Share Option Schemes” contained in this
Directors’ Report.

(b) Call option

On 13 December 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Grantor”) entered into
a call option agreement with an independent third party
(the “Optionee”). Pursuant to which, the Grantor agreed
to grant to the Optionee a call option at a non-refundable
option fee of HK$2,000,000 relating to the purchase of
up to 200,000,000 REMT shares at an exercise price of
HK$0.35 per REMT share during an option period on
and subject to the terms of the call option agreement.
In the event that the call option is exercised in full, the
aggregate consideration receivable by the Grantors will
be HK$72,000,000.

For more details, please refer to the announcements
made by the Company on 13 December 2019 and 23
March 2020.
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Convertible bonds

On 18 April 2020, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
with a company (the “Subscriber”) owned and controlled
by Mr. Chi Wen Fu, a controlling Shareholder, chairman
of the Board and an executive Director, pursuant to
which, the Company conditionally agreed to issue, and
the Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$300 million, which may be converted into
1,600,000,000 Shares based on the initial conversion
price of HK$0.1875 per Share upon full conversion.

On 8 July 2020, the Company and the Subscriber
agreed to terminate the Subscription Agreement because
the Company was not able to give any warranty to fulfil
the terms of the Subscription Agreement.

For more details, please refer to the announcements
made by the Company on 18 April 2020, 26 May 2020,
12 June 2020 and 3 July 2020.
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LISTED SUBORDINATED NOTES

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme)
with the face value of SGD101.75 million. The note carries
a coupon rate of 7.0% and are listed on the Singapore
Stock Exchange. The note matured on 3 July 2020 and was
defaulted.

Details of the listed subordinated notes outstanding as at
31 December 2020 are set out in Note 32 of the financial
statement.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 91 and Note 36(b) to the financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2020 amounted to HK$978,395,000 (2019: HK$1,465,597,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year 2020 and 2019, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year and up to the date
of the annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the annual
report are:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Shum Sai Chit (CEO)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chi Wan Fu, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Lau
Chi Kit will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its parent
company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that
competed or might compete with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, and no
Director shall be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune
which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was in
place during the year, to protect the Directors of the Company
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against them.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 32 to 36 of the annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group’s businesses and
to provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
qualifying participants, the Company adopted a share
option scheme on 3 December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”)
and on 26 June 2019 (the “New Scheme”) respectively.
The qualifying participants mainly include employees
of the Group, Directors and contractors, suppliers or
service providers of the Group who have contribution to
the Group. Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired on 3
December 2018, options granted under the Old Scheme
before its expiry were all expired and lapsed in 2020.
The remaining life of the New Scheme is approximately
9 years (expiry on 26 June 2029).

As at 31 December 2020, options to subscribe for a total
of Nil Shares were outstanding under the Old Scheme
(2019: 14,956,204 Shares) and options to subscribe for a
total of 299,900,000 Shares were outstanding under the
New Scheme. Details of the movements in the options
are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group of REMT’s businesses
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to
selected qualifying participants, REMT adopted a
share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include
employees, directors, contractors, suppliers or service
providers who have contribution to the Group of
REMT. The REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 7 years (expiry on 4 December
2027).

As at 31 December 2020, options to subscribe for a
total of 356,400,000 Shares were outstanding under
the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”). Details of the
movements in the options are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTEREST IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the relevant interests and short
positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:



(i) REARGTZRORBREZRE

of the Company

ESTRS

Directors’ Report

(i) Long Positions in Shares and Share Options

WX E BT ED 249,970,548 - 1341871364  1591,841,912 34.75%
Chi Wen Fu (“Mr. Chi") (Pt 3%1) (note 1) 20,000,000 0.44%
s 14,666,305 - - 14,666,305 0.32%
Shum Sai Chit 20,000,000 0.44%
St &% 1,633,998 - 1,633,998 0.04%
Chi Jing Chao 8,000,000 017%
HEE 2,625,000 - - 2,625,000 0.06%
Guo Mengyong 5,000,000 0.11%
REAR - - - - -
Cheung Sound Poon 5,000,000 0.11%
Bk 1,775,000 - - 1,775,000 0.04%
Sheng Hong 5,000,000 0.11%
28K 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.04%
Lau Chi Kit 5,000,000 0.11%
.t\ “““““
\\\\\\
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(i) RERBZEFZRE

(ii) Long position in debentures of the Company

EEHE B EEHE FEEsEE
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Amount of debentures held
3 0 3% 7T
SGD
5 A [EPN: £ 2,500,000
Mr. Chi Personal interest
B 5 notes:
1. ZEBRMBATERBEERAA(ESENDESE - 1. These Shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited

EPMEER AU ESEITRASIT4% - Bt
BrEREERRAG LITEXEFTE=S
ZHAEZRER ARG R AR #R -

Z IR A H R2014F7H10B 2 Il fh KA &
B EREAABDETERRNBEE  HEARA
549,280,000 % B 7 (18 & 74201656 30 B A2
AIEBRTERANRY ERGERESR AR (E
BRERAFD (FARERESRABTMA LT
RECEBHEREBRATN2014F5H30HEE
(PR2016F 12 A7TREERT R B WERIHH 2
i o

2. WHHZBREZFBERIN EXBRE S

— -

B XTI EE SN - 120206128310 » AA A
EESERFTBITRABRRBESAZHEAL
MERAARSEMEREZBE(ERRBLRK
HREEBIEEXVER) 2 B fh - BRI S EH F
BRENARBRIFEEH M BAEEHE352(67F
BEZERMAZEBERREERE -

(“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue of
Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha
Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the exercise of
one-third or more of the voting power at general meeting of
Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

2. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of SFO.



(iii) REREZHEBZBIRG - 166 R 7
REFZEE

(iii)

FENHA

ESTRS

Directors’ Report

Interests in the shares, underlying shares and
debenture of associated corporation of the
Company

REMT

RE

Long position

ot -
Shum Sai Chit

ot 5% R -
Chi Jing Chao

REA -

Cheung Sound Poon

- - 30,000,000 0.46%
- - 3,000,000 0.05%
- - 5,000,000 0.08%

Mia: SHAEZBBREZFERIN EXBARERT

B -

note:

Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.
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FERENALTRGREEMRKRGFZ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

EERER SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

MEBEBELARNREBITHABTANE - ©2020 So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of
F12A318  RARQTIRM AR ELSTET AN the Company, as at 31 December 2020, persons who had
MR EBCENBIEZ SN B EMKHFE336 interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
R FAREFNSCMOERKEANALI  of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the register

™ required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:
fE &2 HN2020F
12A31BE #17T
BRAEZEDEE

BRESE BB FEME
Name of shareholder Nature

WX E RA

Chi Wen Fu Long position
o E kB

Alpha Sino Long position

BReBAR(EESRAR])) =)

International Finance Corporation Long position
(HlFCH)
B 7 - notes:

1. WX EEENART A H1,501,841,912 % Heh 1.
BHEEZ £ () 249,970,548 B TIHE T
wmHE WAEARFEZER: &(b) 1,341,871,364
R D T RN E 5 H E 2 B 8 1T AN83.74% -
BUHBETFTEZENTRBERRERS LITFERIT
HITE=pz KU L2 REEMBEEBRAT
WS o

Percentage of

issued share

capital of the

EERAEE Company as at

Number of 31 December
Shares held 2020
1,591,841,912 34.75%

(M 5E1) (note 1)

1,341,871,364 29.29%
(Ff 5E2) (note 2)

793,526,275 17.32%
(Mt 7E2) (note 2)

Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of 1,591,841,912
Shares of which (a) 249,970,548 Shares are beneficially owned
by him and registered in his name; and (b) 1,341,871,364 Shares
are deemed corporate interests by virtue of his holding of
83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha Sino which entitled
him to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of
the voting power at general meeting of Alpha Sino.



% BB 8 A0U4ETAIBE 2 B E A A
B fEAXQRIETERENTE  BARQF
549,280,0008% i% 17 (1 & 720156 A30H AR
RIEBITHRAN12%) HALEE SR AR ((H
BEmAR)) fEAmEBESRARFMAWLN
AL BEEREBRARN2014F5A308E%F
(F2015F 12 A7TELEET R B WERHHEZ
IR -

2. BB & B A B R A 793,526,275 fk {5 R A
TS - B P (a) 244,246,275 R Th R B 25
B WRERFEZR RO)IZE BB A2014F7
B1I0OBZBHOEMER - tEAARAEERRE
B8 0 1§ AN A F1549,280,0000% B 1 (R &
20156 A30B AR RIBEITIRALI12%) 4
EEemA AR (EARBEBRESRARMALT
AL BEEEBRAGTN2014F5A308% F
(FR2015F 12 A7TAKBITT R ES)) W ERBZE 2

HE 5 -
EENBEEBzES

REBEHRN  EFRARAERERE RS
EEYHEAL(REREABARIMERA
AIES EIRA (LT A ) B R (E B A
EET I P ELET LE =SS LT Etid
R -

BEAH
PP+ A2 A 45 48 5T ST O848 77 7 E ) B R

AR ZRKNERMEAFTNDXH 2 EERITHA
] e
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As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

2. IFC has interest in an aggregate of 793,526,275 Shares of
which (a) 244,246,275 Shares are beneficially owned by
it and registered in its name; and (b) pursuant to a share
mortgage agreement dated 10 July 2014, Alpha Sino, being
the substantial shareholder of the Company, had mortgaged
549,280,000 Shares (representing approximately 12% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2015) to
IFC as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014 (as
amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor the
management shareholders of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business that competed
or might compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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FTEHERREF

AEREASETEHERLREPRIEZEER
HEBZLLEMT

g
- BRAHER 6.9%
-SRI EEAE L 27.0%
$HE
-&RREP 51%
- 5REFAEM 15.0%

BF REZBEALTHEAMRRBEEMA
BAARBRARS%IA L)BER it T2 HE
BAEFPTHEER -

BEXS
AEEREFELRAEAMBERS - MR G
B MR FEAOFT BB ER S -
DREREZT M
REARFNTRAFEEREGZEHERRES

Fr&l » AR ABIAE Z2020FE12 A31R IFEE RN —
BEHREFENARERSE -

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are
as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 6.9%
— 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 27.0%
Sales
— the largest customer 51%
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 15.0%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 40 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term
of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Shum Sai Chit
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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HLB

24
tHEBEAEEMERERITRR
(BB EH)

(R L#HBEMHE BRI A])

THRER

EPEZEUABZHRETE207E 22 B X%
EEEBRBERAB(ERQF)) REWBAR (5
[E£ 8 ) EZE2020F12A31B 2 A T BN
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BE o
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BF &0 EH A RA G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

B 31/F., Gloucester Tower
FIR The Landmark

EITH115 11 Pedder Street
B ES Central
ERITITRNES1E Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(IN PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATION)

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 76 to 207, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, on 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i) the
Company defaulted on the redemption of the SGD 101.75
million in principal amount of the listed subordinated notes (the
“SGD Notes”); (i) the Company had received demands from
two of its bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings of
the Company and its subsidiary guaranteed by the Company of
approximately HK$51 million plus interest accrued and believed
it was likely to receive further calls from its creditors; and (iii)
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a winding up petition has been filed on 2 July 2020 (Cayman
Islands time) to the Supreme Court of the Cayman Islands
together with the application for the appointment of the joint
provisional liquidators (“JPLs”) on a “light touch” basis for debt
restructuring purpose. The JPLs were appointed pursuant to
an order granted by the court in the Cayman Islands on 14
July 2020 (Cayman Islands time) and recognised by the High
Court in Hong Kong on 28 August 2020 and by the Singapore
High Court on 30 November 2020.

Further, as explained in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$984,205,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, and,
as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$1,082,484,000. Its current
and non-current borrowings amounted to HK$2,065,408,000
and HK$157,417,000 as at 31 December 2020 respectively,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$173,595,000 only. In addition, the Group could not fulfil
certain covenants relating to certain borrowings of the Group
amounting to HK$1,900,268,000 as at 31 December 2020,
which have become repayable on demand of the lenders.
Included in the other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2020 were borrowings of HK$154,686,000 which
the lenders have commenced litigations against the Group to
repay the outstanding balances on 22 February 2021.

The conditions described above indicate the existence of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The directors
have been undertaking certain measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, as set out in Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends on the successful eventual
outcome of these measures, which as at the date of this
report cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and
are still subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether
() the JPLs and the Company will be able to finalise the
proposed restructuring plan for the restructuring of the
debts and liabilities of the Group after consultations with
the creditors’ committee of the creditors of the Group and
the Informal Steering Committee of the holders of the SGD
Notes and obtain the sanctions of the relevant courts for the
schemes of arrangement for the implementation of the finalised
restructuring plan; and (i) the Group is able to implement
further cost control measures on capital investments,
production and administrative operations to reduce overall
operating costs of the Group.
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Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from
the above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able
to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
because management’s plans for future actions in relation to
its going concern assessment could not be finalized yet. Any
adjustments found to be required may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated net assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2020 and the consolidated loss and
other comprehensive income or loss and cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, and the related
elements and disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not
able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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2020 2019
M5 FET FATT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KA Revenue 7 2,151,811 4,314,420
55 A AR Cost of sales (1,848,286) (3,251,036)
E R Gross profit 303,525 1,063,384
Hib Sk BB F 8 Other gains or losses, net 9 60,309 86,656
HERMGHESR A Selling and marketing costs (55,377) (107,917)
THAX Administrative expenses (237,492) (295,171)
Y - T R 5% 4 8 Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 16 (660,000) —
SRR Impairment of goodwill 20 (46,252) —
BEoSEWHIE - ZHE Rk Net allowance for expected credit
H b & Y 515 8 B losses on trade receivables,
EEBEREEFE deposits and other receivables 12 (147,212) (3,134)
BERABAAEEZD Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities 48,132 8,606
fEH =% FE Exchange differences, net (14,115) (7,159)
W% ER Finance costs 10 (179,501) (153,664)
BRETS B AT (B 1B), i F (Loss)/profit before income tax 12 (927,983) 591,601
Frig i i Income tax expense 11 (56,222) (163,347)
FR(ER), BT (Loss)/profit for the year (984,205) 428,254
THALELEER(EER), (Loss)/profit for the year
s Al attributable to:
PA/NECIE S DN Owners of the Company (745,368) 380,368
FE1E IR R 2R Non-controlling interests (238,837) 47,886
(984,205) 428,254
SR(EE)BA: (Loss)/earnings per share:
- EARCE) - basic (HK cents) 15  (16.27)flicents  8.30flicents
o 516201 - diluted (HK cents) 15  (16.27)1licents  8.30flicents
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2020 2019
FET FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ER(ER)ER (Loss)/profit for the year (984,205) 428,254
Hiz2mukz,(ZH) - Other comprehensive income/
HEBRBH: (expense), net of income tax:
MEBINERFIEE 2 Exchange differences arising from
N ER translation of foreign operations 286,738 (128,864)
FREMEZEIHBA (XH) Other comprehensive income/
(MBRFTBH) (expense) for the year (net of
income tax) 286,738 (128,864)
FREW(ZY) WFEHE Total comprehensive
(expense)/income for the year (697,467) 299,390
THAATEEFEAZE Total comprehensive
(X)) WFEHBE: (expense)/income for the year
attributable to:
EIN/NETE SN Owners of the Company (480,539) 275,973
FE 2 A% HE A Non-controlling interests (216,928) 23,417
(697,467) 299,390
BEM I s B ARG MR — 3D © The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2020412 A31H
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
=2 TET TA T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y WENEE Property, plant and equipment 16 3,693,366 3,866,144
HEME Investment properties 17 104,896 —
FRHEEE Right-of-use assets 18 296,330 287,442
EES Goodwill 20 151,116 197,368
mWEE Intangible assets 21 366,511 348,142
RERE Mining rights 22 449,642 428,468
RHBRITHER Long-term bank deposits 28 59 9,604
5,061,920 5,137,168
RBEE Current assets
BEARBEABRZ Equity instruments at fair
AT A value through profit or loss 24 8,737 8,782
BB Inventories 25 583,002 471,760
25 WA K ERE R Trade and bills receivables 26 526,093 461,381
TENRIE  HeREM Prepayments, deposits and
JE U Fk 1B other receivables 27 581,128 634,397
WITRIR S Bank and cash balances 28 173,595 823,058
1,872,555 2,399,378
DEABBELHENEE Assets classified as held for sale 19 - 91,019
1,872,555 2,490,397
RBEE Current liabilities
B RNFTOBARENER Trade and bills payables 29 250,061 291,863
FEFTE A K& B A FE A Accruals and other payables 30 290,206 217,096
AXAaE Contract liabilities 30 337,126 186,707
HE&SE Lease liabilities 31 514 1,962
FEISFT 1S B Income tax payable 11,724 22,397
BE Borrowings 32 2,065,408 1,524,157
Al 80 E 5 Exchangeable bonds 33 - 120,640
2,955,039 2,364,822
RE(AE) BEEFEE Net current (liabilities)/
assets (1,082,484) 125,575
EEHABERRBEE Total assets less
current liabilities 3,979,436 5,262,743
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

72020412 A31H
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
=2 FHExT TA& T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
iR N Deferred revenue 34 72,834 68,283
Hth A 5B Other payables 30 47,907 46,962
AXAaE Contract liabilities 30 - 176,448
HEBE Lease liabilities 31 6,034 5,870
BE Borrowings 32 75,381 536,086
FRERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 35 190,282 159,183
392,438 992,832
EEZRE Net assets 3,586,998 4,269,911
AQAEAEAEMLHBRAE Capital and reserves
kf#E attributable to owners
of the Company
& 7 Share capital 36 101,419 101,419
(ke Reserves 3,259,868 3,727,404
3,361,287 3,828,823
FERER Non-controlling interests 225,711 441,088
ERaE Total equity 3,586,998 4,269,911

EFREN2021F3A26B L E R IRIET B EH N E
TEE207THE Z AU HEA YA THESRAR

BwE:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 207
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 26 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chi Wen Fu

Director

BEM P i B AN AR A M S MK —# D o

Wt B

Shum Sai Chit

EF

Director

consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
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RO EmE R
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE2020F12A31B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

20185124318 As at 31 December 2018

R2019F1818 and 1 January 2019 101,419 1,353,356 4,526 13,666 244242 9,625 (243,203)  (232,769) 2,277,023 3,527,885 428,733 3,956,618

FRET Prolfit for the year - - - - - - - - 380368 380368 47886 428,254

ERLHEEFE  Other comprehensive loss

(HBRHEHR) for the year,
(net of income tax)
BEBNER Exchange differences
MEEZ arising from translation
ELEE of foreign operations - - - - - - (104,3%) - - (104,395 (04,469) (128,864)
FRN2E(FE)/  Total comprehensive (loss)/

[iegctd income for the year - - - - - - (104,395) - 380,368 275,973 23417 299,390
BitkRE Dividend paid - - - - - - - - (9,086) (9,086) - (9,066)
HEBARMEE Change in ownership interest

BA2Y o subsidiaries - - - - - - - 0e -l (108 -
R Transfer to reserve - - - - 30,809 - - - (30,809) - - -
REEERHER  Equity settled share-based

%5 transactions - - - - - 22,969 - - - 22,969 - 22,969
R2019512A31R As at 31 December 2019

R2020F1A18 and 1 January 2020 101419 1,353,356 4526 13,666 275,051 32,594 (347598 (221,707) 2617516 3,828,828 441,088 4,269,911

ERER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (145,368) (745,368 (238,837) (984,205)

FEREHEZERS  Other comprehensive income

(HBHER) for the year,

(net of income tax)

BERNER Exchange differences

MEEZ arising from translation

EizE of foreign operations e e = e o - 264,829 = - 264,829 21,909 286,738
EN2AE(EX)/  Total comprehensive

[ie=gctd (expense)/income for the year - - - - - - 264,829 - (745,368) (480,539) (216,928)  (697,467)
HEARMAR Change in ownership interest

BREY of subsidiaries - - - - - (557) - 2,006 - 1,449 1,551 3,000
BRMERE Share option lapsed - - - - - (3,779) - - 3,778 - - -
SEZRE Transfer to reserve - - - - 5,149 - - - (5,149) - - -
RELERBEFE  Equity settled share-based

LR% transactions - - - - - 11,554 - - - 11,554 - 11,554
20205124318 As at 31 December 2020 101,419 1,353,356 4,526 13,666 280,200 39,813 (82,769) (219,701) 1,870,777 3,361,287 225,711 3,586,998
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

notes:

(il)

B E2020F12A31B L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the Shares of the Company which was transferred from the
Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and cancellation
of Shares by the Company.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been acquired
and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in exchange
therefore.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements and
that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules and
regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside 10% of
their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory
financial statements as statutory reserve, except where the
reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make
good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to expand the
subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase the capital
of the subsidiaries.
Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/or
improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available
for distribution to shareholders.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

H E2020F12 A31B L EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
THER FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REER Operating activities
BRATISBLAT (B 1B), i F (Loss)/profit before income tax (927,983) 591,601
BTHNIBBEELR AR Adjustments for:
Ir & & 3 Depreciation and amortisation 226,056 219,427
HiEER Finance costs 179,501 153,664
HEME BEREZER Net gain on disposal of property, plant
T HEfE R R R UL R SRR and equipment and land use rights 8,781 (42,089)
B U A Interest income (6,842) (7,835)
A= LR Equity settled share-based payments 11,554 22,969
BoRKFIBRBEE Net allowance for expected credit losses
5 18 B F 5 AR on trade receivables 148,021 1,077
B ERGIBEREE Net (reversal) of allowance for/allowance
B IR R (Bm) B E for expected credit losses on other
F R receivables (809) 2,057
MTEMBERAALBEESE  Change in fair value derivative
financial guarantee (48,132) (8,606)
MESRBEEAZ Fair value loss arising from derivative
NAEEE financial liabilities 613 9,310
BAnRBEFABERZ Change in fair value of equity instruments
BATHAZAREE at fair value through profit or loss 45 (4,906)
HESBABIELEZ Loss on disposal of asset classified
BEZEE as held for sale - 2,435
EHERmERRZBEEBE Impairment loss recognised in respect of
goodwill 46,252 -
M - R B R R Written off of property, plant and
equipment 660,000 -
LEESEHATH Operating cash flows before
KEMEmE movements in working capital 297,057 939,104
FEOgm, md (Increase)/decrease in inventory (75,791) 212,428
B SR GRIE R RN E IR Increase in trade and bills receivable
& (180,276) (97,862)
FERFE e R HAMEIW  Decrease/(increase) in prepayment, deposits
IER A () and other receivables 56,471 (92,916)
B SN FIE R ENEE Increase in trade and bills payables
#hn (58,177) (304,331)
FEstE R - HibENFKIE K& (Decrease)/increase in accruals,
FEWRBEBREEHNERE other payable and receipt in advance and
CRLA) /18 0 contract liabilities (31,376) 48,085
REEBREENER Cash generated from operations 7,908 704,508
ERFTEH Income tax paid (57,182) (185,562)
KESEE (FTR) FFTE4XHK Net cash (used in)/generated from
ReFE operating activities (49,274) 518,946
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B E2020F12A31B L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
THER Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEE Investing activities
REURITER Withdrawal of deposits with banks 32,704 98,990
BEME BELRB Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (471,161) (431,807)
FERHFX Placement of long term deposits - (55)
2 A B Interest received 6,842 7,835
HEWE BER Proceeds from disposal of property,
R HPT1SRIA plant and equipment 11,636 70,200
HESBEABELREN Proceeds from disposal of
BEESHIE assets classified as held for sale - 4,321
REZBFANESTE Net cash used in investing
activities (419,979) (250,516)
Al EEE Financing activities
e B/ FTS RIE Proceeds from new borrowings 564,876 1,145,422
EEEE Repayment of borrowings (668,591) (882,274)
EENEINS Interest paid (88,200) (149,968)
BEEAEaE Repayment of lease liabilities (2,587) (2,798)
EENERES Repayment of exchangeable bonds - (111,360)
ERRE Dividend paid - (9,066)
7715 B8 fix # P 15 5K 18 Proceeds from share option
exercised 3,000 -
MEEBANRESFE Net cash used in financing

activities (191,502) (10,044)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
TER FATT
HK$’000 HK$'000
HeRERBESER Net (decrease)/increase in cash
CRL &) /%88 and cash equivalents (660,755) 258,386
FUINBRERERESLERE Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 785,157 568,651
NEEXRSBHNEE Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes 33,015 (41,880)
FRANEEREFRSELEE Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 157,417 785,157
ReRkERBEEEE Analysis of balances of cash
EeR oM and cash equivalents
REMBRKRERMYI ZE Pledged bank deposits and bank and cash
EAERITF R AT balances as stated in the consolidated
MR € &8k statement of financial position 173,654 832,662
BEBAEEREMNEE Pledged deposits with banks pledged as
ERzEEBRITHER security for borrowings and bills payable (16,178) (47,450)
R R IR Non-pledged deposits with bank with
=@ A £ 2 FEEA original maturity of more than
IRITF three months when acquired (59) (55)
HEREREXRMIZ Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
ReMERIKRELER consolidated statement of cash flows 157,417 785,157
BEM M SE B AAR G M HmEa— 3o ° The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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B E2020F12A31B L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

GENERAL INFORMATION

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in fertiliser
business, magnesium product business and metallurgical
flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. On 17 February 2004, the Company’s shares
were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and were withdrawn from the GEM Board
on 31 July 2008. Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s
shares have been listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the directors, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Alpha Sino
International Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.
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H ZE2020F12 AG1A L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

BREBEREZMLLIEEEANZ

R2020F7H3RH + A AR QM) ARFE
4B O R2020F7ASHEISz A& £ 5 A
101,758 BTy EmEEZE(H
0k =4 ) (P 5531 i) ¢ (i) A2 B 72020
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A - BZE 4L - Ernst & Young Ltd.&9Roy
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Winding-up petitions and appointment of
provisional liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced () the
Company defaulted on the redemption of the SGDD
101.75 million in principal amount of the listed
subordinated notes (the “SGD Notes”) on their maturity on
3 July 2020 (the “Payment Default”) (Note 31 iii); (i) the
Company had received in June 2020 demands from two
of its bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings of the
Company and its subsidiary guaranteed by the Company
of approximately HK$51 million plus interest accrued
and believed it was likely to receive further calls from its
creditors following the Payment Default; (i) a winding-up
petition has been filed on 2 July 2020 (Cayman Islands
time) to the Supreme Court of the Cayman Islands on
behalf of the Company together with an application for
the appointment of joint provisional liquidators (“‘JPLS”)
on a ‘“light touch” basis that the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) will retain management of
the Company while the JPLs will work alongside the
Company’s management to, amongst other things,
monitor, supervise and oversee the implementation of a
group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of its
debts and liabilities (the “Proposed Restructuring Plan”)
including to maintain the listing of the Company on the
Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.

On 14 July 2020 (Cayman Islands time), an order was
granted by the Grand Court of Cayman Islands (the
“Grand Court”) for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching
Wai David and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young
Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young
Ltd., and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as
JPLs of the Company with the power to act jointly and
severally.

On 18 August 2020, the Grand Court issued a letter
of request (“LOR”) to the High Court of Hong Kong for
the recognition of the appointment and powers of the
JPLs in Hong Kong to, inter alia, develop and propose
a restructuring plan to allow the Company to continue
as a going concern. The Grand Court also accepted the
resignation of one of the JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
on the same day. The JPLs appointment order remains
in force in respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina
Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as JPLs. An application
has been filed by the JPLs to the High Court of Hong
Kong on 26 August 2020 for the recognition of the
appointment and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the
LOR. On 28 August 2020, the High Court of Hong Kong
has approved the said application.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS

39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment
to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS
39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments'

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2¢

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-20202

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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B E2020F12A31B L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQ”).

Going concern

During year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recorded loss of approximately HK$984,205,000, and,
as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$1,082,484,000.
Further, as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current
and non-current borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$2,065,408,000 and HK$75,381,000 respectively,
while its cash and cash equivalents only amounted to
approximately HK$157,417,000. As stated in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company had
defaulted in repayment of its listed subordinated notes
of principal amount of SGD101.75 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$593,782,000) plus interests accrued
when they fell due on their maturity date on 3 July
2020 and had received demands from two of its bank
creditors for repayment of the borrowings of the Group
of approximately HK$51 million. The Group could not
fulfil certain covenants of certain borrowings amounting
to approximately HK$1,900,268,000 as at 31 December
2020, which have become repayable on demand and
are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Further, included in the
other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020
were borrowings of HK$154,686,000 which the lenders
have commenced litigations against the Group to repay
the outstanding balances on 22 February 2021.

The conditions described above indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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The Company is actively exploring options to restructure
the debts of the Group and intends to implement a
management led restructuring by taking advantage
of the court-supervised provisional liquidation regime
in the Cayman lIslands, commonly known as a ‘“light
touch” provisional liquidation, which gives the Company
the benefit of a statutory moratorium prohibiting the
commencement or continuance of any proceedings
against the Company without the leave of the Grand
Court of the Cayman Islands. The Company is actively
considering to develop a viable proposed restructuring
plan, including but not limited to some or all of the
followings:

1. equity restructuring to facilitate the raising of cash
for the Company from third party investors through
equity issue;

2. a debt restructuring that may involve refinancing
and/or a compromise or arrangement of the debts
and liabilities of the Group; and

3. potential investment in the Company from one or
more third party investor(s) to facilitate raising of
cash for the Company and potential disposal of
non-core business and non-operating fixed assets
of the Group.

It is proposed that the proposed restructuring plan will
be implemented by way of schemes of arrangement
(the “Schemes”) with the creditors of the companies
in provisional liquidation, including the Company. The
Schemes are likely subject to the sanction of the Grand
Court, the BVI Court (in respect of the subsidiaries in
provisional liquidation which are incorporated in the BVI),
the Hong Kong Court and the Singapore Court.

In addition, the Company plans to implement further
cost control measures on capital investments, production
and administrative operations to reduce overall operating
costs of the Group.
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The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
Group being able to successfully negotiate and agree
with the creditors to renew or extend the existing
borrowings or complete debt financing to provide funds
for the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due. This
in turn is dependent upon () the JPLs and the Company
being able to finalise the proposed restructuring plan
after consultations with the creditors’ committee of the
general creditors of the Group, the Informal Steering
Committee (“ISC”) of the noteholders of the SGD Notes
and the Independent Financial Adviser engaged to
represent the ISC; and (ii) the sanctions of the Schemes
will be successfully obtained from the relevant courts
referred to above for the implementation of the finalised
Proposed Restructuring Plan.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the
consolidated financial statements, the proposed
restructuring plan has not been formulated yet and
the eventual outcome of the proposed restructuring
plan cannot be determined with reasonable certainty.
Accordingly, the material uncertainty that cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern remains in existence as at the date of approval
for issuance of the consolidated financial statements.
Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Changes in the Group’s Ownership Interests
in Existing Subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Where
certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain
or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the
Company had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly
to retained earnings). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@  The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivables. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included
as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant business
at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGU,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwiill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of fertiliser,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is recognised
at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to the customer and the customer has accepted the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customer, and either
the customer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all
criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns
and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products, as this
is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other gains or losses, net”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress), are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which
the item is derecognised.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.
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Assets classified as held for sale

Assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal
group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must
be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The Group measure a non-current asset (and disposal
group) that ceases to be classified as held for sale at the
lower of, (a) its carrying amount before the asset (and
disposal group) was classified as held for sale adjusted
for any depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that
would have been recognised had the asset (and disposal
group) not been classified as held for sales, and (b)
its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent
decision not to sell.
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Leases

Definition of a lease

Lease is a contract contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests
of a property which includes both leasehold land and
non-lease building components, unless such allocation
cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not
a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such
intangible assets is recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Alternatively, assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.

Technical Know-how

Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is
capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method
over its estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years, from the
date when the technical know-how is available for use.

Trademark

Trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date and the useful lives are
accessed to be indefinite as the license can be renewed
at little cost.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and
amortised using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 9 to 16 years, from the date when
the patent is available for use.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out above.
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Club membership

Club membership are shown at historical cost. Club
membership acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and are
not amortised as their useful lives are assessed to be
indefinite and subject to annualised impairment review.

Research and Development Expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

—  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during the
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.
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Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value,
are included in profit or loss for the period.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(i.e. the translation reserve) (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.



EEHA

EERBRKE BREILEREREE
MEERN MZEEEFTERRERT
EEERIHETEREERLHEE - BZE
ERAAMAZFEENRES HEZRS
BEADAHBEEREEARHEE -

PIEREMEEKRARESL ZHREIRSE

27
e ©

BIKIEFIE

BkE &
AEBERBERFIMERATE S ENRPIRL—
AR E R Z R RTE R RIKEMEE
((BE2tE]) SRABERERESERES
iR HRREEEAHFENETASL
BEWRERES 8T RN E MR
ARG - BB cEERR
SENEMEESHERE BB ER
ZEERA - ERBRBESFTEHRE - K
SEEIHFE2BEBNEEME -

AEETRER(BRETESF)RI A
RERREERARSAE - ZerERBXE
BRGSO FEM (MBS R ANFT ) - B
EERRFEMNEELEAKBEESH @ @
—EBLEENESHHE -  HEEAER
BEEAFEHNE TESLEELRNRE
BERARFETANBEXNHRE AR S
WHER - MESRERANEE BT HFD
R R 2 BB N E B BRI B OB IRET
2 BRAGCLW A R ATBE R DA R B
FrERMHER -

F 4% 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

R 3R R MY 5F

Notes to the Financial Statements

B E2020F12A31B L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the assets
of which are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
ORSO Scheme. When an employee leaves the ORSO
Scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant
amount of forfeited contributions.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve.
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For share options that are vested immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years, and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to
the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. In the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make sale.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model. The Group’s
business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows, while financial assets classified and measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income
are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on equity investments classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are also recognised as net
investment gains in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All' financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised costing using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, lease liabilities,
borrowings and exchangeable bond.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings after initial recognition, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1)

or

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.

The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group.

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity).

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment benefit
plan.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

@)

(o)

©

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(a)  Estimated Impairment of Mining Rights, Right-of-use
Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible
Assets
The Group evaluates whether mining rights, right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of CGUs represent the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
or its value-in-use. The calculations of fair value
less costs to sell or value-in-use require the use
of estimates. During the year, the Group did not
provide any impairment for mining rights, right-of-
use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (2019: HK$ Nil).
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(b)

(c)

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property,
Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining
Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation
charges for its right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response to
market conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives
are less than previously estimated lives, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, the Group did not change the estimated
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining
rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.
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Provision for expected credit losses on trade and bills
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns
(i. e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and
other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the
Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in notes 5
and 25 to the financial statements.
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5. #MTH

(a) £HITHES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of Financial Instruments

2020 2019
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
SREE Financial assets
HEHEK A= Financial assets measured
HEREE at amortised cost 769,565 1,381,386
BEARBERAER Financial assets at fair value
MemEE through profit or loss 8,737 8,782
778,302 1,390,168
cHAsE Financial liabilities
DN Amortised cost 2,735,511 2,744,636

(b) AEBREBEEZEEEREER
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(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives

and Policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments on fair value through profit or
loss, trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
deposits, long-term bank deposits, bank and
cash balances, trade and bills payables, accruals
and other payables, lease liabilities, borrowings
and exchangeable bonds. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
other price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group does not have significant
exposures to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the respective
subsidiaries. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency hedging significant
foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances and borrowings (see
Notes 28 and 32 respectively for details).

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on pledged bank deposits,
bank and cash balances and borrowings
as at 31 December 2020 had been 10
basis points (0.1% per annum) (2019: 10
basis points) higher/lower than the actual
effective interest rate, the Group’s post-tax
loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$1,863,000 (2019: post tax
profit for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$1,228,000).

As management considers the Group’s
exposure to the above fair value interest rate
risk is not significant, no interest rate swaps
or other hedging activities are undertaken by
management during the year.
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AEENEEYBEBIZER ™ The Group is also exposed to cash flow
BREARZCEBITEHR RS interest rate risk in relation to bank balances
mAEERR - AT - ARIETT carried at prevailing market rate. However,
EHeHHAREMS - At such exposure is minimal to the Group as the
REBEE 2 R BEN - bank balances are all short-term in nature.

(iii) E b E % (iii)  Other Price Risk

7S5 5 i B RN &9 LT AR The Group is exposed to equity price risk
REHERZRECRRR - B through its investments in listed equity
BEZAKFIRARARKES securities in Australia. The management
GBI IR o AN E A manages this exposure by maintaining a
EBERAREZEPHNERME portfolio of investments with different risks.
MZBATE - The Group’s other price risk is mainly

concentrated on equity instruments listed in
the Australia.

B E 2T Sensitivity Analysis
NTERESTRBERERE The sensitivity analysis below have been
2 RAERRRET - determined based on the exposure to equity

price risks at the reporting date.

WEBAITEZE®R LA TH If the prices of respective instruments
10% (20194F : 10%) * KA&EE Z has been 10% (2019: 10%) higher/
REEREBEIAMES K lower, the Group’s post-tax loss or other
= g1 m R A £9874,0007%8 comprehensive income for the year would
TC (20194 - ARG EFi 1% 5= sk decrease/increase by approximately
H 47 & W & 5 mOm HK$874,000 (2019: post-tax profit or
878,000/ 1) ° other comprehensive income for the year

would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$878,000).

(iv) 1EEER (iv)  Credit Risk
REBEEEERYREERK The Group trades only with recognised
ME=ZFETRS - ERAEAE and creditworthy third parties. It is the
ERBER  FIARIZREERR Group’s policy that all customers who wish
ETRSNBERPHAEEXEER to trade on credit terms are subject to
ZERF o N REEE R credit verification procedures. In addition,
BEREWRRIBLESRDBENR receivable balances are monitored on an
MASEMERER L TE ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
Ko HRIWIELEBEEEN bad debts is not significant. For transactions
MNMEEEEFENRS K& that are not denominated in the functional
EEEEIEMNERE K currency of the relevant operating unit, the
SETEREEEGRR - Group does not offer credit terms without

the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.
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Maximum exposure and year-end staging as
at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The table below shows the credit quality
and the maximum exposure to credit risk
based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information
and forward looking information such as
economic condition, unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31
December 2020 and 2019. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit
risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables

202012 A31H As at 31 December 2020

B EA (5K 180 BR) Current (not past due) 5.26% 547,129 28,791
B/ HI N Z P Not more than

1 year past due 100% 143,829 143,829

690,958 172,620

MR2019F12 A31H As at 31 December 2019
B HA (K 180 BR) Current (not past due)
BWHETZ P Not more than

1 year past due

2.38% 461,217 10,974

100% 4,902 4,902

466,119 15,876
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2 KB AW HE

Deposit and other receivables

R2020F12 A31H As at 31 December 2020

Bl EA Current

1.82% 71,109 1,291

2019412 A31H As at 31 December 2019
BN HA Current

2.25% 89,352 2,009

EHERERULRBSRES
EEVMZEERBRBARRSE
B AEMARITMEEAKR
B BBEXZEH A ERA T E
BBl ROTBEHEES
BEMW L A% DT B K2020
F N2019F 12 A318 I £ /E
B

AEEEARAREECER
HOE=ZTETRS - AKHE
MR 2 P A RAE B HIME
RHMNEPAZHEFERER
FFotsh REBEERHAEER
FEM A& BR -

RAREEMESREE (BHER
ERERRESBBIMELEZRE
ERmE  AEBREETTE
REFMABHNEERRE
BRI EERFE
EFg MAKEEHIER
ZEERNADEBK K
RIERemoleEBREX -

In respect of bills receivables and cash and
cash equivalents, the credit risk is considered
to be low as the counterparties are reputable
banks. The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed
to be close to zero and no provision was
made as of 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group trades only with recognised,
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

With respect to credit risk arising from the
other financial assets of the Group which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
default of the counterparties is limited as the
counterparties have good credit standing
and the Group does not expect to incur
significant loss for unallocated advances/
receivable/deposits from these entities.
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The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risk. It has policies in place to
ensure that sales of goods are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.
The Group’s deposits with bank and deposits
placed with financial institutions are placed
in high quality financial institutions without
significant exposure to credit risk.

The directors consider that there is no
significant credit risk in respect of the
Group’s deposits with banks and deposits
placed with financial institutions and bills
receivable as the financial institutions have
no record of default payment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables and other receivable and
deposits are disclosed in note 26 and 27
respectively to the financial statements.

Liquidity Risk

The table below analyses the maturity
profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
the end of the reporting period based on
the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specially, borrowings with repayment
on demand clause and amounts being
demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time
band.
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2020

HARNAARENRE
EFHERRAMENIR

Trade and bill payables
Accruals and other payables

- 250,061 - 250,061 250,061
- 290,206 47,907 338,113 338,113
6.98 945 9,904 10,849 6,548

9.68 1,945,205 264,251 2,209,546 2,140,789

2,486,507 322,062 2,808,569 2,735,511

2019

BSEMFERENZE  Trade and bil payables
EAEAREMERFZIE  Accruals and other payables

Exchangeable bond

- 291,863 - 291,863 291,863

- 217,096 46,962 264,058 264,058
6.56 2,408 9,891 12,299 7,832
7.01 1,632,372 614,912 2,247,284 2,060,243
10.00 132,704 - 132,704 120,640
2,276,443 671,765 2,948,208 2,744,636

RAEHE
AMERHEEHFHALREERSA
TREENEHMAGBE

Fair Value Measurements

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.
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REBEEMEEZALE (i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
FTENFAEFcHEER financial liabilities that are measured at fair
ETHEBHNALE value on a recurring basis
rEER - eMEERERE Some of the Group’s financial assets and
BEREREHREAABER financial liabilities are measured at fair value
2o NERHBEMFARNAE at the end of each reporting period. The
TREeRHEEREREBEDN following table gives information about how
RNAECEZFTAMERIIT R the fair values of these financial assets
A BUE) and financial liabilittes are determined (in

particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

ROAEHAREZ REBRINETRAES:  REBRMETRAZS:  $18 RETEHEEAR

BRATA (M :24) 8,737,000 7T 8,782,000 7T

Equity instrument at fair ~ Listed equity securities outside  Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
value through profit or Hong Kong: HK$8,737,000 outside Hong Kong: active market
loss (Note 24) HK$8,782,000

fiEepat(iase  FERARDE REREDE: £38 R EERR
11,923,0007% 7 11,310,000/ 7T (&% : 21.29%)
Derivative financial Call option in Hong Kong Call option in Hong Kong Level 3 Binomial pricing model
liabilities (Note 30) HK$11,923,000 HK$11,310,000 (Volatility: 21.29%)
EERERESERARIE ¥R k=1 There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2

HREE o BHER - and 3 in both years.
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(i)

RBEATABERBABE(F
SEIRAAEBEARZEMITA
HERWT

Reconciliation for financial instruments
carried at fair value based on significant
unobservable input (level 3) is as follows:

2020 2019

FE T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

M®1H18 As at 1 January 11,310 -

B Y0 E Premium received - 2,000

NI EEE Fair value loss 613 9,310

®12 B31H As at 31 December 11,923 11,310
a2 B F ST Sensitivity Analysis

i % B £ F N B5% - 8l
MEcBABE KRB EBE
1 #9596,000/% T (20194 :
265,0007% JT) 3% J& 4>596,000
7 7T (20194F : 308,000/8 7T) °

WHRBEEEMEELR
REFTENETEBTHE
ERTHBEEHAALE
EERAR REAMBHRARE
RNETMEERTREBENR
EEEEQXAERE -

(ii)

If the volatility increase/decrease by 5%,
the carrying value of the derivative financial
liabilities will increase by HK$596,000 (2019:
HK$265,000) or decrease by HK$596,000
(2019: HK$308,000).

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on recurring basis

The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximately their fair
values.
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ExRERERE 6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AEENHAABEERERAER X The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
EREBERITEBESRERINEER ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings and
BitE - BEELEBERIREEVBARRE exchangeable bonds divided by total assets as shown
A e in the consolidated statement of financial position.
B E2020F12A31H L FE - AEEH K During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s
AR EELEEFESO%NA » K20205F strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within 50%. The
201912 A3IHM B /L RN T gearing ratios at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as
follows:
2020 2019
FHET AT
HK$’000 HK$’'000

ER-Eek Total borrowings 2,140,789 2,180,883
BEME Total assets 6,934,475 7,627,565
BfELx Gearing ratio 30.9% 28.6%
A 7. REVENUE

AEBFEREREERERS SEERE
ERIRMAETER - AEEBRFAZEKA
DT

The Group is principally engaged in fertiliser business,
magnesium product business and metallurgical flux
business. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year
is as follows:

2020 2019
THER T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEF A4 W E Revenue from contract with
customers

HEREEME® Sales of fertiliser products 1,378,985 2,735,195
HE & EMm Sales of magnesium products 744,836 1,515,291
$H 5 JoR 8 1A B E Sales of metallurgical flux products 27,990 63,934
2,151,811 4,314,420

WEmRARE: Timing of revenue recognition:
— {E s [ B A point in time 2,151,811 4,314,420
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8.

S HEH
& RBE KD BERIETEARRTITH
RE(FEEERRE)REZARAER

LB - AEEREE BV B HREER
FORMEERAREN D AT

- BRERRER
- HEMEH
- RMBEBIES

ARASEZTRESBEHRT XL
% -

DEUARELE
REBZABREDHE D ZWARELE D
T o

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the operating
divisions. The Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

—  Fertiliser business
—  Magnesium product business
—  Metallurgical flux business

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
is presented below.

Segment Revenue and Results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segments.

H E2020F12 A31H IEF & - For the year ended 31 December 2020:
BERR XK BEEMERL REBBXEK &5t
Magnesium Metallurgical
Fertiliser product flux
business business business Total
FET FE T FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
val=1 1 ON Segment revenue 1,378,985 744,836 27,990 2,151,811
7 26 A Inter-segment revenue - - - -
REIBEFEU A Revenue from external customers 1,378,985 744,836 27,990 2,151,811
D EBFEE Segment results (691,214) 26,378 (15,545) (680,381)
Hib FUrz5 k518 Other gain or losses, net 60,309
BIISIERBERQRE Change in fair value of financial
# guarantee liabilities 48,132
PRITHER Central administrative costs (176,542)
&R Finance costs (179,501)
MRPTIS LRI BB Loss before income tax (927,983)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019:

ban: 3 N Segment revenue 2,735,195 1,515,291 65,016 4,315,502
2 86 R U A Inter-segment revenue — — (1,082 (1,082)
REINNBEFHUKRA  Revenue from external customers 2,735,195 1,515,291 63,934 4,314,420
7B B Segment results 526,484 350,825 28,392 905,701
EfhFW sk B Other gain or losses, net 86,656
BEFEAELQAME Change in fair value of financial

#3) guarantee liabilities 8,606
FRITERE R Central administrative costs (255,698)
BB R Finance costs (153,664)
BRATERATERE Profit before income tax 591,601

EX 2320 EBWEA - TIRRINEE R P
EEZBA - D EERZGIZ A FEETT

-
VAR

AREDHzEABREARAKRE ST BE
HE - DEAREERTEDEFRRITRE
RERESHFH 5 THMFKENE
B SRERABBZANEBEEDRUHKE
RIBRATEDRZEBE - WL BAETEZR
ERRERESUHEALER LA EDH
®BE 2T

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into at arm’s length.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the results from each segment without
allocation of central administrative costs including
directors’ emoluments, certain net other gains or losses,
change in fair value of financial guarantee liabilities, and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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PHEEREE
MR2020F12H31B . n HEE M BEME
EZALEFECZEARAIIZARSE D &
20 U

Segment Assets and Liabilities

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2020 and capital expenditure for the year then ended by
reportable segments are as follows:

DEHEE Segment assets 3,304,296 2,661,659 626,426 6,592,381 332,923 6,934,475
HHBERE Segment liabilities 1,418,900 650,951 171,970 2,241,821 1,105,655 3,347,477
BRRE Capital expenditure 502,666 127,243 10,514 640,423 220 640,643

R2019F12A31AZ D AP EE M B EME
EZHIEFEZEARALIZAHRE D EE
pan NS

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2019 and capital expenditure for the year then ended by
reportable segments are as follows:

DEHEE Segment assets 3,509,692 2,478,920 598,761 6,587,373 1,040,192 7,627,565
DEEE Segment liabilities 1,359,796 359,925 167,921 1,887,642 1,470,012 3,357,654
ERRX Capital expenditure 304,931 114,891 11,478 431,300 507 431,807
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REXRERDBRERR D BREALER
ZBF:

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

- BROBARFHENEE  RITKA -
THEBMEMEREREEN - I
BEEHODPREARE D

all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than assets classified as held for sale, bank
and cash balances and other assets for corporate
use;

- KUBBREF CEXRABZETHE -
ENETHEMENRESN  FAERE

BAOBEERREDE

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than exchangeable bonds, certain
borrowings for corporate use and certain other

payables.
Bt 5 85 &# Other Segment Information
H E2020F12 A31H IEF & For the year ended 31 December 2020:
BERHERE SEREF REKHER AOE a%
Magnesium
Fertiliser product Metallurgical
business business flux business Unallocated Total
TER TER TER TET TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ME BMERSEITE  Depreciation of property, plant and
(F £16) equipment (note 16) 83,633 97,963 9,008 2411 192,806
RENERE Depreciation of investment
property = = = 8,799 8,799
FREBERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Fff 5£18) (note 18) 6,731 1,273 2,085 2,641 12,730
REREREMEEBSE  Amortisation of mining rights and
intangible assets = 4,775 6,946 = 11,721
ZHEUWFTEBEEEZE  Net allowance for expected credit
BERETE losses of trade receivables
(Fi z£26) (note 26) 146,326 1,649 46 - 148,021
HitEWREESEE  Alowance/(Reversal of allowance)
B/ (BERD) for expected credit losses of
(M3 5E27) other receivables (note 27) (818) 10 1) - (809)
HEME BELEE  Loss/gain) on disposal of property,
mEE /s plant and equipment 9,278 (497) - - 8,781
BRARERARR Loss on equity instruments at fair
ZBRATAZER value through profit or loss - - - 45 45
MEemaBEs Fair value loss arising from
ZAREER derivative financial liabilities - - - 613 613
FERAY Income tax expenses 45,725 5,363 5,134 - 56,222
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HE2019F12A31B EFE For the year ended 31 December 2019:
BEBRELE SEREE RERHEL AAB A&t
Magnesium
Fertiliser product Metallurgical
business business  flux business  Unallocated Total
FTET FAET FTAET THET FTAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ME BMENLZEINE  Depreciation of property, plant
(K 3E16) and equipment (note 16) 95,909 86,277 8,935 655 191,776
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use
(FF£18) assets (note 18) 7,239 1,320 2,013 2,134 12,706
FEEREFAESY  Amortisation of mining rights and
intangible assets - 4,949 9,996 - 14,945
BHRUHEEE Net allowance/(reversal of
BERE/ allowance) for credit losses of
(BERE)FE trade receivables (note 26)
(FfzE26) 2,861 (1,784) - - 1,077
Hih U FIEEEEE  Allowance for credit losses of
Bt (M 5E27) other receivables (note 27) 1,883 174 - - 2,057
HEWE  BENZE  Gain on disposal of property,
ol plant and equipment (41,427) (662) - - (42,089)
BAREFAER Gain on equity instruments at fair
ZRATEZ W& value through profit or loss - - - (4,908) (4,906)
MTEERBEES Fair value loss arising from
ZANEER derivative financial liabilities - - - 9,310 9,310
FTieBF % Income tax expenses 102,170 53,396 7,781 - 163,347
HEEH Geographical Information

H E2020% N2019F 12 A31H EF & » &
SEHIZRFHZEERTEEEEZRAY
REPRE - mR2020812 A31H k20194
128318  AEBKRBHIEREBE EHN
PR - EEEAEEIR RS DA
BEREEDN -

FEEFEFEH

R E 2 2020F 201912 A31H I F &
WEENE-RFFCEMBBASERI
AZ10%  HEpITEEEETETFPHNER

ER

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the Group mainly operated in the PRC and most of the
Group’s revenue are derived from the PRC and most of
non-current assets of the Group are located in the PRC
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. No
analysis of the Group’s result and assets by geographical
area is disclosed.

Information about Major Customers

No information about major customers is presented
as no single customer contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.
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Hih S & 158 8 9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET
2020 2019
THER FATT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE WA Interest income 6,842 7,835
HEIBEARBELRERN Loss on disposal of assets classified
EEMNEIE as held-for-sale = (2,435)
HEME  BEREE Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property,
B (ER), M FHE plant and equipment (8,781) 42,089
BRARBEIABIZ ZIZA Change in fair value of equity
THEAREES instruments of fair value through
profit or loss (45) 4,906
ME2BBaEES Fair value loss arising from derivative
ZRAREEE financial liabilities (613) (9,310)
5T 85 B (Bt 3Ei) Government subsidy (note ii) 22,516 —
HE R Sale of scrap materials 30,290 33,278
TR U (B 3ED Sundry income (note i) 10,100 10,293
60,309 86,656
B 3% note:

(i)

H EZ2020F12A31H L F & - ;T A A
A EZAMEE U 43,848,000 7T
(20194 : 4,331,000/ 7T) °

BT BIEE 2 2020F12 A31HIEFE
AEERAEAETRBFALRLAR
(R0 B | 75 B8 &9 BT 4 8 £919,020,000
BT REFEERN - HEIEBIBEERM
WREFEBBEMINEE o B K&
B R EE E2020F12A31H L FER
PSR IR B0 R ok ZE 5T AR B M BT 1R
85 #7648,0005% 7T °

(i)

During the vyear ended 31 December 2020, in
sundry income was rental income of approximately
HK$3,848,000 (2019: HK$4,331,000).

The government subsidy mainly represented during the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
government grant of approximately HK$19,020,000,
which related to the relevant PRC government for
“Relocation of industries from City Urban Area to
Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri. The subsidies
were granted on a discretionary basis during the
year and the condition attached thereto were fully
complied with. And the Group recognised government
grant of approximately HK$648,000 which related to
Employee Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government for the year ended 31 December 2020.

147



148 45 EEERAR AR Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

SRR

Notes to the Financial Statements

HE2020F12A31B IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

10. B EH 10. FINANCE COSTS

THEBEZH 2B Interest expenses on listed subordinated

5 notes 45,545 40,775
AlE R E S B Interest expenses on exchangeable bonds 16,566 28,325
ARAFAREEEE 2 Interest on borrowings wholly repayable

BEHFE within five years 116,920 84,060
HEABENFE Interest on lease liabilities 470 504
EERAREE Total borrowing costs 179,501 153,664

1. FBHAX 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
RiFABRERANE,GIA) BN EEEE: The amount of charged/(credited) to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represents:

B HA 5 18 - Current tax:
— REPEMER — PRC Enterprises Income Tax 35,901 166,770
— BEFEBEMHE TR — Under-provision in prior year - 675
35,901 167,445
i FE B 18 (M 5135) Deferred taxation (Note 35) 20,321 (4,098)

56,222 163,347




(a)

(b)

(c)

EEFE#H

MR2018F3H218 » BBV EZLBIA
COTFERE UERTN(BTRERER)
(MBI EZ]) - 3| AFE B &/ 4R
Hl o 5B E R P2018F3H28H K %
EXAER YRXBTIE - BIE
FISBHREMAT  GEBEEE
BME2E & Tk i 128.25% &
i MEBE2E B8 T E I Bl A%
16.5%HH o THEMBRMEMR
FINEBERN G B EERS —
i R16.5% HF °

REBEERE  FEMRMEMR
SIEREMPRSBESRE TR
RALTEK - BEEFNGSHME M
1£16.5%5T & » # £2020F 12 A31H
1EFZ 3 % & 18 (20194F : B8
) RRRTEREBSELERM
= e

i e 1 3 P
R 1 TS R T IR E 22020 &
2019F 12 AB1H I FE 2 [t FERRT
VN 2 25%ETE o

BB EH
ARBIRBERAERS RRARF
SHEEMRLRERRERAT
WiR R R BANFASBBAER
ZAYNSIiSEYEY:og va A )
RADBRERBELHSEERHE
NADETEM AL - I % F % i R
BRELBEEMEN -

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill was
signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazette
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits
tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%
and profits tax above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered
profits tax rate as insignificant to the consolidation
financial statement. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% for both years. No tax is
payable for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: HK$NIl) since there were no assessable
profit generated in Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% on the estimated assessable profits arising in
the PRC for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

Overseas Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from Cayman
Islands income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries
established in the British Virgin Islands were
incorporated under the International Business
Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and, are
exempted from British Virgin Islands income tax.
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A 9 [ 10 B B 19 B A (5 48) %
LA B £ 0 12 19 Bt B %225%
HEMBRBANZRDT

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using a tax rate of 25%, the standard income
tax rate of the PRC enterprises, as follows:

2020 2019
FTERT FBT
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %

BECEEB BB (Loss)/profit before tax from

(B18) /% F continuing operation (927,983) 591,601
RERMEHHE X Tax charge at applicable

25% (20194 : 25%) income tax rate of 25%

AEARIEX (2019: 25%) (231,996) 25 147,900 25
REMANEEREED Effect of different tax rates

M &R B RRE of subsidiaries operating

BERzz2 in other jurisdictions 11,259 (1.2) (978) 0.2)
BARTOHKRA 2 Tax effect of income not

M E taxable for tax purpose (11,777) 1.3 (17,695) (3.0)
TAHBZBERAZ 2 Tax effect of expenses not

BT E deductible for tax purpose 251,113 (27.1) 14,831 25
EREANRERZ Utilisation of previous

HBEE unrecognised tax losses (2,066) 0.2 (11,632) 2.0)
KRR HAHEEEN Tax effect of estimated tax

W% 2 losses not recognised 39,689 (4.3) 30,246 51
BEFERETR Underprovision in prior years - - 675 0.1
Fr8 B Income tax expenses 56,222 (6.1) 163,347 27.6

M2020F12 A318 » N & B & R
4 I8 B 18 #9889,761,000/% 7T (2019
F 1 695,184,0007% Jr) AJ 4% 82 LA 4K 84
KR FERR LR F o 49491,649,00078
7 (20194 : 426,729,000/ 7T) 2 1
HEEERNEEFE 2 EFER
FrRFBEE - M#9398,112,000/8 7T
(20194 : 268,455,000 7T) 2 i &
BRI ERBLEE HRR AR
WAE B % 2 FERT S AT E K B) A
MR IERIBYEE  WZEHEBE
ZBEER TEIW 2= W RFER ©

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$889,761,000 (2019: HK$695,184,000), which
can be carried forward to offset future taxable
profit. Tax losses of approximately HK$491,649,000
(2019: HK$426,729,000) will expire after five years
from the year of assessment they relate to while
tax losses of approximately HK$398,112,000
(2019: HK$268,455,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely. The deferred tax benefit of such
tax losses has not been recognised as it is not
considered probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise the unused tax losses.
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12. FR(EE), HH 12. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

FRUBER),SmFEmEGIA) T oI &

(Loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at after

M charging/(crediting):
2020 2019
FET T T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ITERF® Wages and salaries 141,615 195,165
IR AERENzAE Share-based payment expenses 11,554 22,969
S EEMFGRRETEIFIE  Payment to defined contribution
(M 5xa) retirement plans (note a) 3,889 10,493
BEBTIHKA(BIEESHM)  Total staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments) 157,058 228,627
1% SR % B Auditors’ remuneration
BEZREZERILE Audit and audit related work
- ﬁI/a\er Eﬂi%?—f&ﬁﬁ — HLB Hodgson Impey
BERA Cheng Limited 2,110 3,527
EFEZITE Non-audit work
—EEg +Eﬂi$f“)5ﬁ — HLB Hodgson Impey
BRA Cheng Limited 764 944
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 226,056 219,427
HEME  BEREER Net loss/(gain) on disposal of
T E AR &R (K property, plant and equipment
FEE and land use rights 8,781 (42,089)
BEARBEABR 2 BRA Change in fair value of equity
TEAAEE instrument at fair value through
profit or loss 45 (4,9006)
NMETHBEEE Fair value loss arising from
ZRANEERE derivative financial liabilities 613 9,310
BRAERI Z2EFEEKAN Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense 1,845,828 3,090,078
EHEWGTETEHEEEE  Alowance for expected credit
B losses of trade receivables 158,376 2,861
HipEWRIBIEHEEEIE  Allowance for expected credit
B losses of other receivables - 2,057
BEIZESRENHIEFEEZEE  Reversal of allowance for expected
R credit losses of trade receivables (10,355) (1,784)
BEOEEUWFHIETEHEE  Reversal of allowance for expected
&5 18 B credit losses of other receivables (809) —
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o EE

(@)

FERMAFORGIRIA  AEESETE
1& B A — T R & i R IRET IR
ZETEI BN EREHKEE - RIBE IR
FEEVRE - AEBIZEBH © 014% A%
B YARFERR 2 KE
EMENRER XN EZ2IRINERE
F 2B o ZBABATE PR IR B
EERKEEMNEZHMEZSEE -

AEBCDAEEBREELZHRERE -
BETFEBRERERGTE B
EREATR - REBRSTE - AREK
HEBREASARBRHIMEAEE K
Bz E B A Z25%¥% A Az =t 8 5K -
B2014F6 A1AE AEBERESHN 2
ER % H1,5008 T -

HE2020F12AG1ALLFE - AEERA
i S EHEI1E L ) 5k 4258 493,889,000
7 7 (20194 : 10,493,00078 JT) ° 12020
F12A318 - REB I EEFESTMASE
LA 3R] R RAURL 7S B [ R SR A 4 5K (2019
FTBT) o

note:

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in the PRC, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group contributes approximately
14% of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no future obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state
sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Since 1 June
2014, both the Group’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$3,889,000 (2019: HK$10,493,000). As at 31
December 2020, the Group was not entitled to any
forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future
contributions (2019: HK$NIl).
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13. EE - FETHBAEBREELHE 13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES'

EESHMAL AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
AND INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
(a) EFHH (a) Directors’ Emoluments
HE2020F 12A31B L FERES Y The emoluments of each director for the year
HFENE ST ended 31 December 2020 is set below:

YirES Executive directors
WX E(EE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,175 502 18 2,695
Mt (7T AER) Shum Sai Chit (CEO) - 1,005 1,042 18 2,065
R Chi Jing Chao - 210 282 - 492
FUTES Non-executive director
JEE Guo Mengyong 35 - 126 - 161
BIFHTES Independent non-

executive directors
REAR Cheung Sound Poon 60 - 215 - 275
Bt Sheng Hong 35 - 126 - 161
ElEg S Lau Chi Kit 240 - 126 - 366

370 3,390 2,419 36 6,215
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HECOI9OF12A3IBILEEREEY
SFHENE S T

The emoluments of each director for the year
ended 31 December 2019 is set below:

HiTES Executive directors

MXE(LE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,357 232 18 2,607

St (7T B A2 ) Shum Sai Chit (CEQ) - 1,059 1,035 18 2,112

e Chi Jing Chao? - 112 133 - 245

HEZ Chi Bi Fen' - 709 268 9 986

FUTES Non-executive director

PEE Guo Mengyong 35 - 58 - 93

BUFHTES Independent non-

executive directors

REAO Cheung Sound Poon® 45 - 192 - 237

B Sheng Hong 35 - 58 - 93

284 Lau Chi Kit 240 - 77 - 317

BE Kwong Ping Man® 67 - 134 - 201
422 4,237 2,187 45 6,891

M HR2019F6 A26 B B BT o Retired on 26 June 2019

@ R2019F6 A27THEZ{F

@ Appointed on 27 June 2019



(b)

(c)

AREHEMA L

RER AEBRUGZSHHALTE
FE26L (2019F 1 1) KAARIES * A
HEEMWEOHIMERLXHE -
FRENTFHT 23 (20194 : 4f7)
ALZBEmT:
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(b) Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
2 (2019: 1) directors of the Company whose
directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the above
analysis. The emoluments payable to the rest 3
(2019: 4) individuals during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
FET FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000

EAXFHe - BRE- Basic salaries, share options, other
HAn 2R EYF &= allowances and benefits in kind 4,035 10,668

BAREBH-TEMIR  Pension costs-defined

Bl contribution plan 41 20
4,076 10,688

&30 (20194F - 4fL) S =Fr A L #9
B & B PO LA T & 5

The emoluments of the 3 (2019: 4) individuals with
the highest remuneration are within the following
bands:

A
Number of individuals

2020 2019

Z 21,000,000/ 7T Nil — HK$1,000,000 - —
1,000,001/ 8 T = HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000

2,000,000 7T 3 -
2,000,001 L & HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000

3,000,000/ 7T = 2
3,000,001/ 7t & HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000

4,000,000 7T = 2

3 4

#H = 20204 K&2019412A8318 Ik 4
- AEBWEREAAAGEER
A e H A LTS EAMN
AREBE S MARE B FHLERE -
SERBEBEE - RELE2020F &
2019F 12 AGIH L F[E » EARRNQF]
EENAMNEETIATRERE
HEMEEIE S -

(c)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office. There was no director of the
Company and the five highest paid individuals
agreed to waive or waived any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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14. g2
KRBEEZTNEHE E£2020F12A31H
IEFEIRAEMAR B (2019F : T IT) ©
15. BR(EE) BF
(a) BEX
BREAX(FB),/ BFZREAAT

BAEARBFERNGEBR), 87 - BRI
FRADRTEBBRINEFSHH -

14. DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: HK$NIl).

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2020 2019
FEEREN(EIER),  (Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary
N oA S /N equity holders of the parent,
LTEEREEAEN used in the basic (loss)/earnings
(EB18),/ & F per share calculation (745,368) 380,368
BT i AR 4 Weighted average number of
FHE(F ) ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares) 4,581,117 4,581,117
FREAKN(EE), BT Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(BB (HK cents per share) (16.27) 8.30

(b) #E
FREE(BR), /AT RRRE R
FAEEEEEE R ARARDH
TTEEBINETFOEEE - ARAH
—HEEENBREE AR B -

TBREMS - ARRIRE M ARITE
BREMN s RBEEEEELETA
B oUBEARARBEUAKRAT
RZBHBFEHMEET)BARNRY
HE - BEXFTMFEORDEE -
BB RITEEREMETHRG
BIELLE - ARNEERETEESRE
Z2020F K 2019F12 A31HILFER
BHFHITE WAESRES(S
B),/ BANETEBRETEARAD
R -

(b) Diluted
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company
has one categories of dilutive potential ordinary
shares: share options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated
as above is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise
of the share options. The computation of diluted
(loss)/earnings per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because
the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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16. ME - BMERZRE 16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EE:S Cost
1201941818 As at 1 January 2019 892,425 21508 1,996,220 49,894 15,484 381 1280295 4,256,297
RE Additions 4,288 - 698 243 562 - 426,016 431,807
g5 Transfers 248,442 - 297,085 82 47 - (545,656) -
e Disposals (1,408) - (234,107) (1,112) (1,887) - - (238,514)
BUSHBAKIE  Transfer to assets classified

LEMEE as held for sale (55,994) (8,899) - - - - - (64,893)
ERAZ Exchanges alignment (25,843) (58) 46,429) (1179) (517) 27) (04,921) (98,967)

72019%12A31A % As at 31 December 2019

202051418 and 1 January 2020 1,061,910 12,641 2,013,467 47935 13,689 354 1,185,734 4,285,730
AE Additions - - 7,694 454 327 - 462,686 471,161
3 Transfers 110,074 - 111,760 - - - (221,834) -
e Disposals (544) - (89,414) (135 (202 - 8099 (100,216)
i Written off (280,757) - 443,179) B771 (2,065 - (20031 (754,803
HEHANEABE  Transfer from assets classified

LENEE as held for sale 48,937 - - . B . - 48,937
EXAE Exchanges alignment 71,205 282 86,114 3136 1,061 24 84,511 246,353

2020512318 As at 31 December 2020 1,010,845 12,923 1,686,442 42,619 10,988 378 1,432,967 4,197,162
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ZiHE Accumulated deprecation
7201941716 As at 1 January 2019 23,189 13,684 431,932 14,663 5,302 381 - 489,051
FRMG Charge for the year 46,294 473 140,590 2,097 2,322 - - 191,776
=1 Transfer (21,194) - 21,194 - - - - -
HERHH Eliminated on disposal (4,067) - (200,795) (162) (357) - - (205,381)
BEZEHEABE  Transfer to assets classified

LENEE as held for sale (36,919) (8,899) - - - - - (45,818)
ERAE Exchanges alignment (636) (48) (8,559) (427) (345) (27) - (10,042)
720194128318 % As at 31 December 2019

202051718 and 1 January 2020 6,667 5210 384,362 16,071 6,922 354 - 419,586
ERME Charge for the year 44,303 434 144,622 1,276 2,151 - - 192,806
HEBYH Eliminated on disposal (143) - (77,605) (128) (1,923) - - (79,799)
WEEHH Eliminated on written off (32,915) - (56,495) (3,575) (1,818) - - (94,803
BUANEABIE  Transfer from assets classified

HENEE as held for sale 30,084 - - - - - - 30,284
ERAE Exchanges alignment 8,281 282 25,362 1,344 429 24 - 35,722
720205127318  As at 31 December 2020 56,497 5926 420,246 14,988 5,761 378 - 503,796
REFE Net carrying values
720205427318  As at 31 December 2020 954,348 6,997 1,266,196 27,631 5,227 - 1,432,967 3,693,366
120195124318 As at 31 December 2019 1,065,243 7431 1,629,105 31,864 6,767 - 1,135,734 3,866,144
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(i)
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The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings at the end of the reporting period are analysed
as follows:

2020 2019

THER T T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEFEEE Medium term leases in the PRC 954,348 1,055,243
MR2020%12A31H Bk ™M B A& 4 (i)  As at 31 December 2020, leasehold land and buildings

458,604,0007% 7T (20194 : 884,167,000
ABLIZHETIRET  BERKSED
TERIRITIE B 2 40 (P 5£32) »

REE2020F & 2019F12 A31HIFFE -
AEBEZRAMEREBEERGSE

BERER -

WA B(ETRMHERAT ([LERAR]
BRENEARIMETFREBRFENRDSE
R ABEIEEDMZK - B2019F T
LERBBEEES  2XBMECELIF
g °

HFAE E22020F12A31B IEFEY
¥ - BB K % 45 8 49660,000,000
BT 0 B AR #9659,457,00008 TR B
MLl IEE B R o

RAFEZME BEERREBEZERFH

e

- et RETF HEHA
—HEWEHEE 2&E54
— R B M Es 3F 40
—REAR MW RERE 2124
—RE 4F104F
— MR 5%
—TAEKER 24

(il)

(iv)

The

and plant and machinery with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$458,604,000 (2019: HK$884,167,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 32).

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
directors of the Group considered that no impairment
loss should be recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited. (“Shandong Hongri”) has cooperated with
Luozhuang District Government of Linyi City to respond
to the requirements of “Relocation of Industries from City
Urban Area to Industrial Parks” (“the Plan”). All plants
have been gradually demolished since the launch of the
Plan in the second half of 2019 to date.

Included in written off of property, plant
and equipment amounting approximately
HK$660,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020, approximately HK$659,457,000 related to the
implementation of the Plan above.

useful lives of property, plant and equipment

adopted for the current year are as follows:

— Leasehold land and buildings

— Leasehold improvements

— Plant and machinery

— Furniture and office equipment
— Motor vehicles

— Ship

— Tooling and moulds

Over the lease
terms

2 to 5 years

3 to 40 years

2 to 12 years

4 to 10 years

5 years

2 years
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17. IREYHE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FAT
HK$'000
R A Cost
R2019F1A18 » 201912 A31H & As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and
2020F1A1H 1 January 2020 —
BREAEEESER (HE19) Transfer from assets held for sales (Note 19) 104,339
NE Addition 36,832
ME 5, 38 B Exchange realignment 8,999
A2020F12H31H As at 31 December 2020 150,170
2t E Accumulated Depreciation
R2019F1A1H » 2019F12A31H & As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and
202041418 1 January 2020 —
BEREREEEEY (19 Transfer from assets held for sales (Note 19) 34,201
FRNMER Charge for the year 8,799
ME 4, 38 B Exchange realignment 2,274
7®20205612A31H As at 31 December 2020 45,274
BREE Carrying amounts
A2020F12831H As at 31 December 2020 104,896

R2019%F12 A31H

As at 31 December 2019

BREMEEREEMFE R _HZ2ER -

LRREMERFAEEREEBZEN &

RAGERERERNIZERELELE -
BREME 2EHERFRN F43E484F -

REBE Z2020F 12 AIEKREMEET
B 4258 /5104,896,000/8 TT M L EWME LA
B 42%8 5115,588,000/8 7T » fHEHEANE
BB E B A R MENETT o IRIR
BEEENGCER KB2EBILESERG
BRIBAZHERSE  BEHNAEEE
FE2020F12A3IB 2R EME 2 REEE

HIRE

The investment properties represent the buildings to
phase one and phase two of the Yunxiao properties.

The above investment properties are held for capital
appreciation purpose, measured at cost and depreciated
on a straight line basis over the lease term. The
estimated useful life of the investment properties range
from 43 to 48 years.

The aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2020 was HK$104,896,000
and the aggregate fair value of the investment property
HK$115,588,000. The valuation was performed by
independent qualified valuers not connected with the
Group. Based on the result of management’s assessment
by making reference to the valuation report issued by the
independent qualified valuers, there is no impairment on
the carrying value of the Group’s investment properties
as at 31 December 2020.
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The fair value of land portion of the investment properties
was determined base on direct comparison approach by
reference to sales of similar land.

The fair value of the properties portion of the investment
properties was determined base on deprecation
replacement costs approach by reference to the
replacement cost and deprecation rate.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is the their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

F—H Phase one 36,832 36,832
% —Hf Phase two 68,064 78,756
104,896 115,588

FE2020F12A3IHIEFE  REYWEIT &
ELEESWA-

tEEMEZFEEERRE:

In the PRC held on:
FHIEE Medium term lease

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no rental
income was generated from investment properties.

The carrying value of investment properties shown above
comprise:

104,896 -
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18. FHEEE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

=+ b f5E A RE WAE &5t

Land use
right Office Total
FA T FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R2019F1A1H At 1 January 2019 298,708 6,991 305,699
NE Additions — 3,199 3,199
wES Depreciation charge (10,319) (2,387) (12,706)
PE H Exchange alignment (8,690) (60) (8,750)

2019512 A1 & At 31 December 2019 and

2020F1HA1H at 1 January 2020 279,699 7,743 287,442
AE Additions 8,172 424 8,596
EREREREEE Transfer from assets held for sales 3,418 - 3,418
mESE Depreciation charge (10,346) (2,384) (12,730)
P X 38 & Exchange alignment 9,216 388 9,604
20205125318 At 31 December 2020 290,159 6,171 296,330

ERREERASERELERELHER
HBAERAREE L R EHER
B AR E BT E R RFHREEES
oY EHGAEHEABEMELFE -

202012 A31H + BRHI1E 228,771,000
7 7T (20194 : 160,183,000 7T) 2 1 A #
BEDHEBERTER ZERMFES2) -

RMEFE  AEEREXBEEHRELT
HERELEAE - i EAEREAR
EHEANT Y E TR AMFER
504F (20194F : 504 ) & M F F244F (2019
F:MERS0F) - EREHER W N 2
RN R R 1R - FHEHRIZ AR B
LHEmBERET  ARETRIER RIEH -
EETHEEHRMTEATTRHESRE K
ER AEBERGHN TR EER
HIIT A 4 2 BIBR ©

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to
use underlying leased land and premises under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2020, right-of-use assets with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$228,771,000
(2019: HK$160,183,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings (Note 32).

For both years, the Group leases land use right and
offices for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 50 years for land use right (2019: 50
years), and 2 years to 24 years for office (2019: 2 years
to 24 years) but may have extension and termination
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.
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19. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

2020 2019

FHET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

DEAFELRENEE Assets classified as held for sale - 91,019

R E P RBEE H &P H R20184F
12A31B A E4 - 2 ENB AT AR2018
FI2AMAES—R2BUE=F(ETEE
FINEZE— O BETE(RERE S
1) WRAEBZREREFBEBUATERAR
#110,000,000C EEHE@Y % - METE
F1Rm 2 E MW B QA AR B R
&4 AR ¥1,000,0007T ° 722019411 H18
B HhrEasRBEFREnNEERLKRERA
#345,641,0007%8 7T (A R%40,142,0007T) A
R AE#943,206,000% 7T (A R #38,000,000
THEEFEEE 51 EEREERK
TE#)37,972,0007 7T (A R 34,200,0007T)
FFAR2019F 12 A31AR H b fE U R 1A -
R2019F11 A25H - 2 BB ARIARS—
HEUE=F(BEBER2) B mBEL
B[R =ER2))  ZHHEH®RT O
DEABELNENEE  WRIUTAERE
REE & A R#1,500,0007T °

Due to the exclusivity period with a former potential buyer
was expired on 31 December 2018, a wholly owned
subsidiary A signed a memorandum of understanding
(*“MOU 17) with an independent third party (“Potential
Buyer 1”) on 31 December 2018 and agreed to the
terms and the details of sale and purchase of the
related properties with the amount not less than
RMB110,000,000 and the Potential Buyer 1 agreed to
pay a non-refundable deposit RMB1,000,000 to the
wholly owned subsidiary so received. On 18 November
2019, the carrying amount of part of assets classified
as held for sale of approximately HK$45,641,000
(RMB40,142,000) was disposed to Potential Buyer 1 and
the consideration was approximately HK$43,206,000
(RMB38,000,000). The receivable of the deferred
consideration of approximately HK$37,972,000
(RMB34,200,000) was included in other receivables
as at 31 December 2019. On 25 November 2019, the
wholly owned subsidiary A signed a memorandum of
understanding (“MOU 2”) with another independent
third party (“Potential Buyer 2”) for the disposal of the
remaining part of assets classified as held for sale and
a non-refundable deposit of amount RMB1,500,000 was
received.
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MR2019F10A31H ' 2 EWBARIBE—%
By EZH(DBEEHI) R R ET R
([FRER = 8%3)) - I R B IR A R IE T
LA A R#30,000,000t 2 & BE EHEH
—JEME TRAEEMNBRRBIFTA]
RIEMRZE ARE1,500,0007T °

MR2019F12A31H » pEABIEHENE
EMREES 591,091,000/ T (AR E
81,977,0007L) AR DB ARBIELENEE
R EA LY A 4118,575,0005 7T (A
R #106,796,0007T) © {#1E Jy A £ K & E
WERBE  BLAERGEMETT - BIE
EREL2EBUSEARMGEMEITZMG
ERmEBRMEZHGER  R2019F12H
3B AEEFELENERBDEENRE
HEE I &R E -

R20205FER  EEKZ2EMRAKLFTR
TRZBNREKBEREDEEHNERE
ME BMEMRE EREEERKED
o,

ARBERFABR@QERI TRDERE
HEMBOARBESTREENDBRHF
FEEERQEEFTDERFKEFEER
ERNZERAEMMEEREHN D BRBFIE
FE KHABUESHIZE[MTE) R
PR RERENEGHEZ AHEA BIYOF
B_EPREB) =EAREEE 18
BEWE (N7 RWE - BE Rk (Y
H16)EH 2 EEH -

On 31 October 2019, a wholly owned subsidiary B
signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU 3”)
with an independent third party (“Potential Buyer 3”)
and agreed to the terms and the details of sale and
purchase of a property with the amount not less than
RMB30,000,000 and a non-refundable deposit of
amount RMB1,500,000 had been paid to the wholly
owned subsidiary B.

The aggregate carrying amount of the assets classified
as held for sale as at 31 December 2019 was
HK$91,019,000 (RMB81,977,000) and the aggregate
fair value of the assets classified as held for sale is
approximately HK$118,575,000 (RMB106,796,000).
The valuation was performed by independent qualified
valuers not connected with the Group. Based on the
result of management’s assessment by making reference
to the valuation report issued by the independent
qualified valuers, there is no impairment on the carrying
value of the Group’s assets classified as held for sale as
at 31 December 2019.

During the vyear 2020, reference to the market
conditions and lack of demand, the Directors decided
to reclassify the assets held for sales to property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment
properties.

The Directors account the change which due to (a) lack
of market available for immediate sales in its present
condition; (b) decision of directors of the Company, to
reclassify the assets held for sales to right-of-use assets
(note 18), investment properties (note 17) and property,
plant and equipment (note 16) at lower of (a) its carrying
amount before asset was classified as held for sales,
adjusted for any deprecation that would have been
recognised had the asset not been classified as held
for sale, and (b) its recoverable amount at the date of
subsequent decision not to sell.
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20. @& 20. GOODWILL
TAT
HK$'000
2N Cost
7R2019F1H18 + 2019412 A318 - As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019,
202041 A1H Kk 2020412 A31H 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 197,368
25t R E Accumulated impairment
R2019F1A18 » 2019F12A31H & As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and
202041 A18 1 January 2020 —
GESNERE Impairment of goodwill 46,252
A2020F12H31H As at 31 December 2020 46,252
BREE Carrying amounts
7®2020F12A31H As at 31 December 2020 151,116
201912 A31H As at 31 December 2019 197,368

PEEASERCELBU(REELE
Nz EBRATEB S BER

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating

units (“CGU”) identified according to business segment
as follows:

2020 2019

THER T

HK$’000 HK$'000

5 B E 75 () Magnesium product business (i) 151,116 197,144
E 4th 2 75 (i) Other business (ii) - 224
151,116 197,368

fr Ll ENN EARESREZDE |
FEhEE BLEEREREEEERN
HEESTASEREELE N ETT
AR R -

BEXARBEBEMREEZERAERA
Al (7 26 B ) (B FLU5% - 601) » 6 8
MENARED2ELTETSMREA
BatHE -

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets that
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill
are included in the respective CGU for the purpose of
impairment assessment.

(i) The goodwill was resulted from the acquisition of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holding Limited
(“REMT”) (stock code: 601).
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(i

20206124310 » MEBH X Z AR E £
BHORBEREBEEFEEE - Lt ERE
ATEREEEMREZSFHPBEEK
17.02% B AR T 2B REEN - B
EMRBBsFzREREDNERARE
BREREEREE - ZEEXRTIENRHBT
EEEBER  XTHEBHEBTE LTS
RHERX - EREEFEZHME
REBEZIRRASRA S HH(BEREEH
ERMENE  EMR) 24 - B
BRI DEREM 2 BEXAREEEY
MG ER A -

KFEEN AREREETTES B
iR N A ERIEE  SFERIAONE -
AEBZEB L HEMTHEBERK
BB 2B R B4 £46,028,000/5
JL o B E2020F12A318 - HEERI K 2
Al Y [B] B (& 492,351,537,0007% 7T °

201912 831H - MRz AR E
TB2RERTSRETE -

MM _EEBERARNEEHEE -
ZREELBEM 2B R EL
ARBEEHECHHEESELEZA
FHRERERMNFEZAEREE "
VA B 8 4F B 75 A1 B8R 3R R17.02% (20194F ¢
9.86%) MET - BEHHMNRERER
AR EEEEENHAMERNERE
FER RV ERBRETE - AR ER
AEENHMEERESIRASTEAS
MR G (EEBREHEERENR)
MEBAEIREZELBENRER
AAREERTIHERNRMIEL -

BEAZBEBNGEBE  AitAH
L {ER1E B 1B £9224,0008 7T °

(i)

As at 31 December 2020, the recoverable amount of
REMT has been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a 5-year period, and pre-tax discount rate of
17.02%. REMT’s cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 3% growth rate. This growth
rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts
and does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the relevant industry. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation
of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales
and gross margin, corporate tax rate, such estimation is
based on the unit’s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

During the year, due to the COVID-19 epidemic broke out
all over the world and the decline in magnesium products
export due to suspension of aluminum plants and
automobile factories. An independent professional valuer
was engaged by the Group to assess the impairment
of goodwill directly related to REMT amounting to
approximately HK$46,028,000. The recoverable
amount of the REMT amounted to approximately
HK$2,351,537,000 as at 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of REMT is
calculated by reference to bid price quoted in active
market.

oMo EBEHB AR AR is engaged in the port
operation. The recoverable amount of this CGU is
determined based on a value in use calculation which
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors of the Company covering a
five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 17.02%
(2019: 9.86%) per annum. Cash flow projections during
the budget period are based on the same expected
gross margins and raw material price inflation the budget
period. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflow/outflow
which include budgeted sales and gross profit margin,
such estimation is based on the unit's past performance
and the expectation of the directors of the Company for
the market development.

However, for the continuing losses incurred in
the business, an impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$224,000 was made.
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BHEE 21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
4 A efes [ =7 aif
Technical Club
Know-how membership Trademark Patent Total
TiEx TEx TER TER TiEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BA Cost
P2019%1 A1H As at 1 January 2019 3,687 80 322,538 51,052 377,357
B 5 5 # Exchange alignment - - (7,404) (1,088) (8,492)
M2019F12 318 As at 31 December 2019
% 2020F1A1H and 1 January 2020 3,687 80 315,134 49,964 368,865
B Exchange alignment - - 21,003 3,330 24,333
H2020F128318 As at 31 December 2020 3,687 80 336,137 53,294 393,198
Rt BERAE Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
R2019F1 818 As at 1 January 2019 3,687 - 1,988 11,022 16,697
FREH Amortisation for the year - - - 4,549 4,549
AR Exchange alignment - - (255) (268) (529)
72019512 318 As at 31 December 2019
% 202091 B1H and 1 January 2020 3,687 - 1,733 15,303 20,723
FNEH Amortisation for the year - - - 4,587 4,587
XA Exchange alignment - - 115 1,262 1,377
®2020F12A31H As at 31 December 2020 3,687 - 1,848 21,152 26,687
REFE Net carrying values
R20205128318  As at 31 December 2020 - 80 334,289 32,142 366,511
2019512 A31H As at 31 December 2019 - 80 313,401 34,661 348,142
STEEEMEREHRAT The following useful lives are used in the calculation of
amortisation:
it E 8 5M#E 3E5F Technical know-how 3 to 5 years
e EHR Club membership Indefinite
R = HA IR Trademark Indefinite
- 9E16%F Patent 9 to 16 years
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22.

HEFEEZAERFHRFIT/ER
Hi - BT EITHEE - WA EBLEEZ
AEAFHAERY  AeESFRANE
EBEREEAEHUBREETZRAER
ENERAERFY - HAYBEAZEE
HeiEi - AIERFHFEAERAER
BERBE - 2R HEREERER

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for

NIRRT EX e EEEREBEEEE 2 prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
KIER o with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out above.
23 4 22. MINING RIGHTS
2020 2019
TET FA T
HK$’000 HK$'000
R A Cost
®1A1H As at 1 January 530,183 541,738
b N3 & Exchange alignment 35,336 (11,555)
A12831H As at 31 December 565,519 530,183
R EHERRE Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
M®1A18 As at 1 January 101,715 93,278
FRNMER Charge for the year 7,134 10,396
ME 4, 38 B Exchange alignment 7,028 (1,959)
MH12H31H As at 31 December 115,877 101,715
REFE Net carrying values
W12 A31H As at 31 December 449,642 428,468

BREARTPEIHRER BHORAAOER
PEEMEALTZAZE AENMIERE
B OMMERBEICKREENBORE
i -

The balance represents two mining rights, the serpentine
mine located in Donghai County of Jiangsu Province,
the PRC and the dolomite mine located in Baishan City
of Jilin Province, the PRC, which are amortised by the
production quantity over the ore reserve.



¥k 2020 ANNUAL REPOR

SRR

Notes to the Financial Statements

HE2020F 128318 IEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

23. X EMEBLT 23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(a) 72020F K%2019F 12318 » KA&EE

fa) Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as

MEEMBARZFBNT

at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follow:

EEEXEEHRERLT B BRARAA RERREZKR 1,000 % 2R ERAEL0ET = - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Century Sunshine Ecological Hong Kong, limited Investment holdings in Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary sheres of HK$1.00 each
Technology Limited liability company
THREENRREERLA T EREALT ROBERERHEER MRS REAARE2750000007 - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Jiangsu Azureblue Technology The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sale of fertiisers ~ Registered and paid up capital of
development Company Limited liability company in the PRC RMB275,000,000
THRELIERAT hEERALLR RPEETRAANT BAREE HAMRERRAARB27000000% - —100%  100%  100%  100%
Jiangsu Longteng The PRC, limited Processing, exploration and sales Registered and paid up capital of
Petrochemical Limited liability company of serpentine in the PRC RMB297,000,000
BACXERAA EBRRES ERAMLA REERELR 00RERRERTEIZT 100%  100% = - 100%  100%
Long Xiang Enterprises Limited ~ British Virgin Islands, fimited Investment holdings in Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each
liability company
WRARLIRHERAA T BREALT ROBERERHEER R 2 B A R 260,000,007 - - 70.02% 7002% 70.02%  70.02%
Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint ~ The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sales of fertiisers ~ Registered and paid up capital of
Stock Company Limited liability company in the PRC RMB260,000,000
BEARERHERAR B ERALLT REERERHEEH R R R B AR 5300000007 = - 100%  100%  100%  100%
BEARRERERAT The PRC limited Manufacturing and sale of fertiisers ~ Registered and paid up capital of
liability company in the PRC RMB30,000,000
TERAEULTERAT hE ERELLR REERERHERS BEMTRERBRAAKES000000007 = - 100%  100%  100%  100%
TERRERETARAR The PRC limited Manufacturing and sale of fertiisers  Issued and fully paid RMB500,000,000
liability company in the PRC
BENREAERERLA BRE BREMLR RERERERERR EROI0BTLERTRARRA - - T2.31%  T240%  7231%  7242%
([HhaE#E]) Bermuda, limited Investment holdings in Bermuda 6,574,390,0581%
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology liability company Issued and fully paid up capital of
Group Holdings Limited (‘REMT") 6,574,390,098 of HK$0.10 each
HERAZHRERLT T ERELLT REERERHECEEAEER  AMRARKAARK,800,0007 = - T2.31%  T240%  7231%  7242%
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC, limited Manufacturing and sales of Registered and paid up capital of
Products Company Limited liability company magnesium-related products RMB171,800,000
in the PRC
BUTAREEEBRARLT 98 ARAMAA RPBERERHECBRERER  EMRARRAARS803320007 = ~T281%  T24%  T2.81%  724%%

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium

Resources Company Limited

The PRC, limited
liability company

Manufacturing and sale of magnesium- Registered and paid up capital of

related products
in the PRC

RMB280,332,000
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(b)

ERFINEEZRAR/EFEXERE

TEINBENAKHEEEFEEX
BONARRETEMB AR - EFR
RHAIEMHBEARNENEER
IERRITE °

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of
the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
affected the results for the year materially or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries, in the
opinion of the directors, would result in particulars
of excessive length.

HEEXFZEREZFIELEEN (b) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
BREFE that have material non-controlling
interests
FEREERFEZ
aE i B 3 K FEEEERREELAG
HE Y Proportion of PHMIFERERZ
Place of ownership interests wAl/ (EE) Rt FERER
NCER: incorporation and voting rights held Profit/(loss) allocated Accumulated
Name of registration by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
company and operation interests interests interests
2020 2019 2020 2019
FTERT FTHET THET FAET
2020 2019 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
WBER BRE 27.69% 27.58%  (20,493) 57,844 402,037 382,779
REMT Bermuda

NTREBENFZRESE Z AR
B ERRNTBERBE - ATH
BERME D EEEARFRELYH
Gk

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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HERK REMT
2020 2019
FHET TFAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
mEEE Current assets 772,908 888,298
FERBEE Non-current assets 1,783,924 1,666,026
mEAE Current liabilities (953,709) (804,577)
EMTBAR Non-current liabilities (151,201) (361,860)
NAFHEB ANE(REEZ  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,049,885 1,005,108
FEPERR = Non-controlling interests 402,037 382,779
2020 2019
TET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
A Revenue 744,836 1,515,291
fil =2 Expenses (818,847) (1,305,559
FAN(EB), = F (Loss)/profit for the year (74,011) 209,732
iN/NTE P SN (Loss)/profit attribute to owners
(E18), 4 Tl of the Company (53,518) 151,888
FEVE AR 2 PR (L (Loss)/profit attribute to
(B18B), & F non-controlling interests (20,493) 57,844
FAN(EB), = F (Loss)/profit for the year (74,011) 209,732
NRE B ANEREE  Total comprehensive income
U =5 4858 attributable to owners
of the Company 41,260 94,238
EERERELEEE Total comprehensive income
Wz 4858 attributable to non-controlling
interests 15,800 35,889
FRAEHEW =B Total comprehensive income
for the year 57,060 130,127
[RENEI YL Y N Dividend paid to
non-controlling interests = 9,066
LEEBATBIREME  Net cash flows generated from
FRE operating activities 29,788 290,138
"EEEFTA Net cash flows used in
WeMmEFH investing activities (93,364) (106,615)
BB R MA Net cash flows used in
REMEFE financing activities (148,010) (32,104)
W& OGRE), M AFEE  Net cash (outflow)/inflow (211,586) 151,419
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24, BRAEFARSZRARE

24. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

W& Listed investments
- BNz ETARAEE S — Listed equity securities in
BEARBEME) Australia, at fair value
(note) 8,737 8,782
B 5 notes:

ZHBEEAEERRMNZ EFMEHFEE - A%
E % A FinTech Chain Limited 14,744,0000% A%
3o

ETRABSFREZDAABENZEERT S
BEAEMEE -

The amount represents the Group’s investment in listed
securities in Australia. The Group held 14,744,000 shares of
FinTech Chain Limited.

Fair values of the investments in listed equity securities are
determined by reference to bid prices quoted in active markets.

25. F8 25. INVENTORIES
R Raw materials 337,813 305,171
& Work in progress 1,845 11,992
B pK Finished goods 243,344 154,597
583,002 471,760
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ES2RURERERER 26. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
FHT T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE W E 5 58 (KT 3ED Trade receivables (note i) 690,958 466,119

TEAEEBERE Allowance for expected credit

losses (172,620) (15,876)
518,338 450,243
JE W 5= 8 (B =) Bills receivables (note i) 7,755 11,138
526,093 461,381

GEE

(i

AEBMGETESRFZEEH —KTE
#B180H (20194 : B #180H) ©

BB RBENE SRS RIEER
ZNMREHRALHENEFAH -C8
HERBENESEERERESZRA
SEHTHELBERINEPER - RIEB
TR TEERL HANKFEH
ARRERE RARFEEERYES
g AERDPARFET2EKE - A
SEYERZSERBATANENRR -

M2020612A31H: B W ZE #E %
7,755,0007% JT (20194F : 11,138,000/% JT.)
R R EAAR B 61E A (2019F : @A) A
HE - BRKEEREAHUARKEEE -

note:

(i)

The Group allows a credit period normally not more than
180 days (2019: not more than 180 days) to its trade
customers.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default. Trade receivables that
were past due but not impaired related to a number of
customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the management believes that
no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balance are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

As at 31 December 2020, bills receivables of
approximately HK$7,755,000 (2019: HK$11,138,000) will
be matured within 6 months (2019: 7 months) after the
end of the reporting period. All the bills receivables are
denominated in RMB.
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AEERKREZFRHREREEER
BB RN EBRREAHEINWT

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the
Group presented based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit losses was as follows:

2020 2019

FHET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

30H AR Within 30 days 126,010 231,951
31£60H 31 to 60 days 76,043 159,223
61£90H 61 to 90 days 87,497 56,541
91H £180H 91 days to 180 days 228,788 2,528
518,338 450,243

HEKESERCGEEEREREH N
T

M1A1H As at 1 January

The movements of allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables are as follows:

2020 2019
TERT TAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
15,876 15,148

EHREHAEEEBERE Allowance for expected credit
losses recognised 158,376 2,861
EREEEERERG Allowance for expected credit

losses reversed (10,355) (1,784)
ME 5, 38 B Exchange alignment 8,723 (349)
M®12A31H As at 31 December 172,620 15,876

SFAEH E2020F12A31BILFERKE S
R BHREEEBEBEAER & RERE
Ik & 5 Bk 5% 2 & 1#143,708,0007%8 7T (2019
£ 1 4,902,000 7T) © BRI BEREKES
EREZFEASCEARIESE  BHE
AREERKER 28D o

Included in the allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables for the year ended 31 December 2020
is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$143,708,000 (2019: HK$4,902,000). The individually
impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were
in default or delinquency in payments and only a portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered.



EEMBHREERFIN AT HE
RERSAMRABEREETRED
- AETEFEHEEERE - BEXHER
mAERUEERA (BRI RYE - Em
B BEPEURFMR URERESH
AN ERARROAREE HZEE
Froafan@Bi R ERE - ZrtERBR
FAENMEER  ERRBELNREBH
AREMBAESEM - BRI R IER KR
RERANBEEEEN - —KRME - M
B 5 MR IR 8 B R 18 — A B3 S A OR
BIETTEIR - AU MH
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Impairment under HKFRS 9

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating and coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value
of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if
past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

FEHEE R FREAE EERE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BV EY (o 481 H) Current (not past due) 5.28% 547,250 28,912
BHAT ZR1F Not more than 1 year past due 100% 143,708 143,708
690,958 172,620

2019512 A31H As at 31 December 2019

TEHA B E X RHELE EEEE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FA& T FAETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B EA (5K #80 BR) Current (not past due) 2.38% 461,217 10,974
B HN ZR1F Not more than 1 year past due 100% 4,902 4,902

466,119 156,876
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27. HEANRIE - BERHMBUWRE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
FET FHB T
HK$°000 HK$’000
H b i U 3 IE (B 50 Other receivables (note i) 36,110 86,269
T8 1+ 7k 18 (M 5Eii) Prepayments (note ii) 511,310 547,054
% & (P 5%ii) Deposits (note i) 34,999 3,083
582,419 636,406
BHEEBERE Allowance for expected credit loss (1,291) (2,009)
581,128 634,397

B 5 - notes:

(i

(i)

Hh e FIE E ERIERBIA G E
i #911,826,000/% st (20194 : 7,561,000
7 7T) ~ #910,219,0007% JT (20194 « 78
TIZERERBFRIR  REBTZSD
BABIELEEERKARER(2019F :
#937,972,00058 7T ) °

20205128318 - BHNFRERZRETE
B FE 2 B 15 30 E £9472,518,0007% T
(20194F : 434,727,000/ 71) R IBN B X 4
/513,667,000 7T (20194F : 8,444,000/8
JT) e

M2020F12A318 - & A B E X
GEHREEEREARZATERERSYH
31,804,000 7T (20194F : 298,000/87T) °
#4 BE 493,195,000 7T (20194F : 2,785,000
BI)AMELAREERE -

MREMERREZEEBEREBREZH N

(i)

(il)

Other receivables mainly comprise of value-added tax
recoverable in the PRC of approximately HK$11,826,000
(2019: HK$7,561,000), receivables from contractors for
expenses paid on behalf, approximately HK$10,219,000
(2019: HK$NIl) and consideration receivable arising from
disposal of assets classified as held for sale HK$Nil
(2019: approximately HK$37,972,000).

As at 31 December 2020, prepayment mainly
comprise of prepayment of inventory of approximately
HK$472,518,000 (2019: HK$434,727,000) and prepaid
expenses of approximately HK$13,667,000 (2019:
HK$8,444,000).

As at 31 December 2020, included in the deposits
mainly represented the refundable trade deposits of
approximately HK$31,804,000 (2019: HK$298,000)
which were paid to suppliers for due performance.
The remaining approximately of HK$3,195,000 (2019:
HK$2,785,000 were the sundry and utility deposits.

The movements of allowance for credit losses of other

T receivables are as follows:
2020 2019
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
®1A1H As at 1 January 2,009 —
ERREEBEEE Allowance for credit losses
recognised = 2,057
BOEMEWFIEEZEERE  Reversal of allowance for credit
B losses of other receivables (809) —
b 5, 5 B Exchange alignment 91 (48)
R12A31H As at 31 December 1,291 2,009




28. EEHFRITERRRBRTIRAELHE
R

2020128318 - Bl HHH B B =@ A
BN —F 2 R171F 5 4910,185,000/% 7T
(20194 :7,328,0008 7T0) 2 E E F M X A
3.3[E(2019F : 1.508) - EITEFERUAR
¥t E -

7R2020F 12 A31H Z $R1717 5 £916,178,000
75 7T (20194F : 47,450,0005% 7T) B 1E /& fE 1~
ZR (29 R EE 2 T (M E32) »

RBERAR ROTMRESERBEUATEA
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28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 December 2020, the fixed interest rate on
deposits with banks of approximately HK$10,185,000
(2019: HK$7,328,000), with maturity over three months
but less than one year, was 3.3% (2019: 1.50%) per
annum. The deposits with banks were denominated in
RMB.

As at 31 December 2020, deposits with banks of
approximately HK$16,178,000 (2019: HK$47,450,000),
have been pledged to bills payables (Note 29) and
secure borrowings (Note 32).

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash

H: balances comprise of the followings:
2020 2019
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
RIEMBEEN Long-term bank deposits under non-
RERITHER: current assets:
B RHRT Non-pledged long-term bank
TR deposits 59 55
EHEMIRITER Pledged bank deposits - 9,549
59 9,604
RREBSEERN Bank and cash balances under
MITRIR S - current assets:
EEBERITERKE Pledged bank deposit and cash at
RITHE bank 16,178 37,901
MHSRITER Short-term bank deposits 7,106 30,782
RITESLFHE Cash at bank and on hand
Re 150,311 754,375
173,595 823,058
HET Total 173,654 832,662
WEEBAEE Less: Pledged deposits with
EREEERZ bank pledged as security for
BIEFRITE R borrowings and bills payables (16,178) (47,450)
I B 5 R B B B Non-pledged deposits with bank
“@AANEZ with original maturity of more than
JEI AR ER 1T K three months when acquired (59) (55)
Re&AERIKRELIEE  Cash and cash equivalents 157,417 785,157

RBESKR - MERTHERZER INEF
RAE11E (20195 1 1.628) : ZEHF R 2T
BRI HA B EA5 D318 A (20194 : 318 A) °

At the end of the reporting period, the weighted effective
interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 1.1%
(2019: 1.62%); these deposits have an average maturity
of less than 3 months (2019: 3 months).
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29.

RITRALEH - REERBTEHIEN
TEEHE:

Bank and cash balances, and pledged bank deposits
were denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
FET FAET

HK$°000 HK$'000

AR RMB 165,220 684,605
BT HK$ 8,203 126,538
HAth Others 231 21,519
173,654 832,662

AAREAEZBRTEACERELRPE
AXPEB TR IMNEE FIFTRR

The remittance of bank and cash balances denominated
in RMB out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange
control restrictions imposed by the government of the
PRC.

ESBRAREREGEIE 29. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
2020 2019
FHBT FiET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB S HRIE Trade payables 232,568 251,793
R Bills payables 17,493 40,070
250,061 291,863

M12A318 - AEE RN E 5 F A 2 Rk
AMEEZARE)) WO T :

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade
payables of the Group presented based on the invoice
date was as follows:

2020 2019

FTER TAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

30H AR Within 30 days 170,580 189,215
31260H 31 to 60 days 11,923 4,428
61Z90H 61 to 90 days 3,510 2,190
B0 Over 90 days 46,555 55,960
232,568 251,793

RESERZFHEESHAG0HZE90H (2019
F:60HZE90H) - AEBEREBYBKRAKE
BHEK  WERITBEMARENZERA
R

P R iR i E MR 1T 17 K 1 (PY RE28) ©

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
60 to 90 days (2019: 60 to 90 days). The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Bills payable was secured by pledged bank deposits
(Notes 28).
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30. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES,

EHREHAER RECEIPT IN ADVANCE AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES
2020 2019
FHET F& T
HKS$’000 HK$’000
JEstB RN EMEFIE  Accruals and other payables (note i)

(B 3D 321,903 203,604
PTHE e E A E (M) Derivative financial liabilities (note ii) 11,923 11,310
B 7 & R & & (M =) Financial guarantee liabilities (note iii) 4,287 49,144

338,113 264,058
EHEE M EY) Contract liabilities (note iv) 337,126 363,155

675,239 627,213
Bl AR Current 627,332 403,803
JEENHA Non-current 47,907 223,410

675,239 627,213
B 5 - notes:

(i

MR2020%F12 A31H * EFT 1B & E &
NREZTZRREREDE BRERR
2 FE 14 3 18 4935,282,000/7% 7t (2019
£ : 37,420,000/% 7T) K A & 1 B 18 49
11,724,0007% 7t (20194 : 6,883,000/ 7T)
T FE A~ $R 17 1 B #9110,213,0005% 7T (2019
4 1 32,867,000 7T) °

H £ 202012 A31H % 2019412 A31H It
FE - ARRRAREHREAEmERITE
TRIBE -  EEFIEHE2HAEA201954
128182 A - fTHEEMAEZE8H N
T

(i)

As at 31 December 2020, accruals and other payables
mainly comprised of payable for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$35,282,000
(2019: HK$37,420,000), other tax payable of
approximately of HK$11,724,000 (2019: HK$6,883,000)
and bank interest payable approximately HK$110,213,000
(2019: HK$32,867,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019, the Company recognised derivative
financial liabilities due to the grant of call option. For
detail, refer to the announcement dated 13 December
2019. The movement of derivative financial liabilities is
as follows:

2020 2019

FET FE T

HK$’000 HK$’000

M A1H As at 1 January 11,310 -
B YEE Premium received - 2,000
NILEEE Fair value loss 613 9,310
M2 A31H As at 31 December 11,923 11,310
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(ii)

(iv)

MR20205F12A318 LR 4 B — 2758 (iif)
VE=ZFQ019: —RBIULE=F)ATE
BREERERNETRAOFTLUBER
#9 A B #181,000,0007T (20194F : A R ¥
181,000,0007T) * H#H ZREEBITER

ZBRE - ATIAZN o
R20205F12A31H » Z F R A E R Z

Nt B 4 54,287,000/ T (20194 :
49,144,000 JT) °

FHRARERZESHEFL2HAHA
20164F9 278 Z A »

As at 31 December 2020, the Shandong Hongri has
executed financial guarantees to certain banks for
credit facilities granted to an independent third party
(2019: an independent third parties), for approximately
RMB181,000,000 (2019: RMB181,000,000) which would
be required to be paid if the guarantees were called upon

in entirely.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of these
corporate guarantees was approximately HK$4,287,000
(2019: HK$49,144,000).

For more detail of the corporate guarantees please refer
to announcement date 27 September 2016.

ERNBEZEZHUT (ivy  The movements of contract liabilities is as follows:
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’°000 HK$'000
M1A1H As at 1 January 363,155 348,889
BRAHEMEBLHEE  Revenue recognised that was included
ERZUWA in the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year (186,707) (348,889)
BAFERNMEBAEMT  Revenue recognised from performance
Rz A obligation satisfied during the year (1,026,415) (2,247,400)
FRWEIZESER 2AE4  Increase in contract liabilities as a
AafEEm result of receiving deposits during
the year 1,185,954 2,618,520
FE 5, 3 % Exchange realignment 1,139 (7,965)
M12A31H As at 31 December 337,126 363,155
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EREEAE: Lease liabilities payable:
—FHR Within one year 514 1,962
—FLA More than one year but
BB F not later than two years 380 269
GES . More than two years but
BEAERDF not later than five years 1,217 1,018
AFMNE Over five years 4,437 4,583
6,548 7,832
B FERB AR Less: Amount due for settlement with
RTZ@AREIHEE 12 months shown under current
Z B liabilities (514) (1,962)
FIEIERBBER Amount due for settlement after
TZERAEEBREE 12 months shown under non-
2 FRIE current liabilities 6,034 5,870
BRANEEAE 2 N FI51E EEKA The weighted average incremental borrowing rates

& 1 F6.93% £7.03% (20194 : 6.93% =

7.03%) °

HEBBRBRUTHAENEEEUINZE

A

(2019: from 6.93% to 7.03%).

applied to lease liabilities range from 6.93% to 7.03%

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies

other than the functional currencies are set out below:

HK$
RMB

6,548

1,719
6,113
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32. &€ 32. BORROWINGS
2020 2019
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITEE Bank borrowings 924,553 862,772
H b g & (B 3ii) Other borrowings (note ii) 622,454 612,185
T & B i (B FFi) Listed subordinated notes (note iii) 593,782 585,286
2,140,789 2,060,243
TEIE R EKERE R Carrying amounts of borrowings that
BEMZERZEEE do not contain repayable on demand
GEE clause and repayable (note v):
—FR Within one year 1,822,408 1,260,969
—F A EEAEB Within a period of more than one
REX-Inl year but not exceeding two years 75,381 213,409
WMEN EENBBRF Within a period of more than two
RIS years but not exceeding five years - 288,677
NaEE Sub-total 1,897,789 1,763,055
BEREREMNGERE Carrying amounts of borrowings that
i zER 2 EHEA contain a repayment on demand
(P 5Ev) clause and repayable (note v):
—FNR Within one year 243,000 263,188
—F EEPBBRE Within a period of more than one
HEA year but not exceeding two years - 13,000
MEMN EENBERAT Within a period of more than two
BEA years but not exceeding five years - 21,000
NEE Sub-total 243,000 297,188
2,140,789 2,060,243
B BIESERBNBE ZFIE  Less: Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities (75,381) (536,086)
FIERE BE Z A Amounts shown under current
liabilities 2,065,408 1,524 157
MRNEREERZIZREK  The carrying amount of bank loans
JERNIRITEE CREA that are repayable on demand due
(FIE R E) &) (B 7Evi) to breach of loan covenants (shown
under current liabilities) (note vi) (1,900,268) —
B ARERE R EYIVE Amounts shown under current
MEEE 2 KIE liabilities for the borrowings without
breach of loan covenants 165,140 1,624 157
BE: Borrowings:
B H AR (50 Secured (note i) 872,215 725,912
B PR (B =i B iv) Unsecured (notes iii & iv) 1,268,574 1,334,331
2,140,789 2,060,243
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BEERUATEE.E: Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:
AR #& RMB 838,110 702,588
BT HK$ 512,101 526,106
ES us$ 196,795 246,263
g oo SGD 593,783 585,286
2,140,789 2,060,243

AEBEENEBRMNER(NESERELHF
R)FE T :

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s
borrowings are as follows:

UL

B Pl 5
T 8

i 2

=)

2020512 A31H - BEBEE X ZUUAR
SEZME BMEREE EAEEER
SRITIFSRIEIRIR - © 55 549458,604,000
7 7T~ 228,771,000 JT .10,185,0007% JT
(20194 : 884,167,000 7T * 160,183,000
7 7L }%.27,308,0008 1) * U KB ZHB A
A ARIERERER -

M2020F12A8318  sTAEMEEN A
(@) B B % B 2 3] & 3K 4£947,904,0007 7T
(20194 : 63,461,000/ 7T) ~ (b) & X 4
267,476,000/ 7T (20194 : 146,251,000
& oT) K (o) & T & % 49312,869,0007% 7T
(20194 : 402,473,000 7T) °

Effective interest rate:
B Fixed-rate borrowings
B Variable-rate borrowings

4.5% to 20%
2.68% to 5.66%

4.5% to 7%
3.75% to 7.52%

notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2020, the secured borrowings
were mainly secured by property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets and deposits with banks of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$458,604,000,
HK$228,771,000 and HK$10,185,000 (2019:
HK$884,167,000, HK$160,183,000 and HK$27,308,000)
respectively and corporate guarantee between the fellow
subsidiaries.

(i) As at 31 December 2020, included in other borrowings
was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$42,109,000
(2019: HK$63,461,000), (b) loan of approximately
HK$267,476,000 (2019: HK$146,251,000) and (c)
several bonds of approximately HK$312,869,000 (2019:
HK$402,473,000).
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@ WBE—BHARAZIEZENES (@)
AREFEESRAR ((BEERESA
ANV ERHZE  BERE SR
A |l B &g A R 127,000,000
ELZ2ER  ZBEFIZBHEBT
R 2T BEIS5E 2 FEFREE
WREF MM NERERA
HEEZ KABBERARZE
AT B S BEEEE - () AR
HZhEER (VEIFhTEERR
BRAR(EE] AXERR)E
B2 ARNERG, 7202012 A31
A - 549,280,000 8% B 15 (418 AR
A 20156 A30H B 2 1T AR A 49
12%)EATELDHAERSHA
RIERATIR H B R R iR
1T1E R #910,185,0005% 7T (20194F :
16,877,000/87T) ° bl » AR E
HRITHEBEERONEEE(FEBRE
A T EE 2 25 B B R @A A K
HEHBEHRARR ZREZERE -
AEERWBRARETE TR -
HhaEERBRIIBZE TS
24 -

(b) IRBER2018F12A6HFI L E R (b)
W% ANA R 240,000,000/ 7T
R E - BERIL6E 2 FHM KT L
BEEYFEIN—R - BIEREE
B BEx 2z FRE A /2020674
31H » R2019F5 A6 H % B 7T i
H1% ERZE2021F7A31H °

€ HBRARRERIEFETER ©)
49108,576,0007%8 JT 7] 8 2 (& % (K}
FE33) 1220207 21 H K Ak Bk
B EFOEEEMEEL W
FFR20E o

(d)  M20215FE2A7228 - E FE it A (d)
AEEEHZE2020F 124318 HibfE
& P 49154,686,00078 JT & % ¥ —
MAEEIEREN B AR ERF
WA BREEREMES -

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and
International Finance Corporation (“IFC”), IFC had
granted a loan of US$27,000,000 to the subsidiary.
The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 3.5% per
annum and the amounts due are based on the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. The loan from IFC was secured by (i)
corporate guarantee given by the Company; and
(i) pledges of shares in the Company as owned by
Alpha Sino International Limited (“Alpha Sino”), the
substantial shareholder. As at 31 December 2020,
549,280,000 shares, representing approximately
12% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 30 June 2015, has been pledged by Alpha Sino
to IFC as security for the loan granted; (i) deposits
with banks of approximately HK$10,185,000
(2019: HK$16,877,000). In addition, Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, a director and controlling shareholder of the
Company (through his interest in Alpha Sino), has
given an undertaking to IFC to maintain a minimum
level of shareholding in the Company. The Group
and the subsidiary had to comply with certain
covenants, including, among other things, certain
financial covenants, under the loan arrangement.

According to a loan agreement entered on 6
December 2018, the Company was granted
HK$40,000,000 facilities. The loan bear an interest
of 6% per annum in arrear semi-annually. The
original maturity date of the loan is 31 July 2020
and extended upon maturity to 31 July 2021 upon
a supplemental agreement signed on 6 May 2019,
unless early redeemed.

The exchangeable bonds (note 33) of
approximately HK$108,576,000 become repayable
on demand on 21 July 2020 due to breach of
certain terms in the instruments by the Company,
and were reclassified to other borrowings and
carried at rate of 20% per annum.

Included in the other borrowings of the Group
as at 31 December 2020 were borrowings
of HK$154,686,000 which the lenders have
commenced litigations against a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group to repay the
outstanding balances on 22 February 2021.

(i) AR R2017F6 9508 31T 2 HE (i)  This represents the carrying amount of the 7.0%
#3101,750,000% SN 3% 7T 2 7.0[2 1% {8 R 1% subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75
(BZzR¥BrHEERASET)2REE million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
B ZEZEBERIMERSMET - I Programme) issued by the Company on 5 June 2017.
B 202057 ASH B B R Z 47 © The notes are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange

and was matured and defaulted on 3 July 2020.
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Included in unsecured borrowings, approximately
HK$22,800,000 (2019: HK$50,000,000) represents bank
loans guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of the
Company as at 31 December 2020.

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

Certain of the Group’s banking faciliies and other
borrowings were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
as are commonly found in lending arrangements. On 3
July 2020, the listed subordinated notes in note (iii) was
matured and defaulted. As a result, the Group could not
fulfill covenants on certain borrowings with an aggregate
amount of HK$1,900,268,000. Included in this amount,
borrowings of an aggregate amount of HK$40,858,000
were re-classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020.
The Group is negotiating with the borrowers to renew the
borrowings at the end of reporting period. As at the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the
aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor repaid.

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank

borrowing and other borrowings as at 31 December

2020 was approximately 9.68% (2019: 7.01%).

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the carrying amount
of borrowing approximately equal to its fair value were

HK$2,140,789,000 (2019: HK$2,060,243,000).

AERES 33. EXCHANGEABLE BONDS
AEBEA((AEBRESR)AGBISDHE The carrying values of the liability component of the
ERERONNE exchangeable bonds (“EBs”) are as follows:

2020 2019

TET AT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

M1 AR As at 1 January 120,640 250,464
2B A B B Interest expense charged 16,566 28,325
R ERFEMEZ Interest expense paid and payable (16,566) (46,789)
EEXRE Repayment of principal (12,064) (111,360)
ENOEAREMEE Reclassification to other borrowings (108,576) —
®R12A31H As at 31 December - 120,640
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34.

i 3 :

R20165F5H6H AR R ETAET B R
232,000,000/ 7T 2 Al B R & HIAMEIR S - 7]

BmES B ETHIEFTIR8% 2 F M EGFR
AEBREABAXN—R - IBBESHEAS
RRBE A ERES T EMGRRGH T En
EFERSTEBEAMKERERAR (HE
mE DB -

HBEmLEALQR AR A2016F4A260 2 2
ﬁlﬁo

R2017F9A48 - MR FEREEM - AATH
AEBRESFKEARLGZEBN - MBRET
201710 A6 B K7 »

EREFINPE AN BRESEITESR
A=FE(HR) METER—EABRF(LEE
AR ) « ZE R HAPRHIBE R2019F 4 ] 851
BEHIFHADRE BT I &K =202065
A58 « Z AR ANAFNE XL R £2021F5A
5H o

HRAEBERXERE THEI B
108,576,000/% 7T Al #5325 5 70 202166 7 H21 A K
BIRERERN  EFMoBEEHMMEE (HE32)
I Bt 5 G F 20 o

BEFSPEENERSNERFFE518.04% ©
M 2019 ARy - BIRFEF|RE B10% A
HANBAEHE  BERANEFREE A% -

note:

On 5 May 2016, the Company issued EBs with the principal
amount of HK$232,000,000 for cash. The EBs bear an interest
of 8% per annum payable in arrear every six calendar months
from the issue date. The EBs entitle the holder to exchange
for the shares of China Rare Earth Magnesium Technology
Holdings Limited (“China Rare Earth”) pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the EBs instrument.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated on 26 April 2016.

On 4 September 2017, an Agreement Notice was given to the
holders of EBs due to the re-organisation in relation to China
Rare Earth, the exchange right was lapsed on 6 October 2017.

The maturity date of the EBs is three years commencing
from the date of issue of the EBs (the “Term”) and it can be
extended for another 1 calendar year (the “Extended Term”),
the extension option was exercised by the holders of EBs upon
maturity in 2019 to 5 May 2020, which was further extended
to 5 May 2021 during the current year.

The exchangeable bonds of approximately HK$108,576,000
become repayable on demand on 21 July 2021 due to the
Group breach of certain terms in the instruments, reclassified
to other borrowings (note 32) and carried at rate of 20% per
annum.

The effective interest rate of the liability component on initial
recognition is 18.04% per annum. Upon the extension in 2019,
the effective interest rate changed to 10% per annum. The
interest rate further changed to 9% upon further extension in
current period.

B ZE Y A 34. DEFERRED REVENUE
2020 2019
TET FHE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
B3 R RS 2 BT R Government grants received related to
assets 72,834 68,283
BREFETEZEE AlLmMKL2BE In order to encourage the development of magnesium

TEEAR AT R20124 B & i BT FF 5] ST —
B - BREZDE  BEHBERERS
WAL BEREREBRATRENBKE
(&) U EEAERBRESDE -
B K R I EE R -

industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property,
plant and equipment.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group has not received any Assistance and there were
no other income was recognised for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019. The changes between the
carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are
arised from exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables
is initially recognised as deferred revenue and
subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the life of
a depreciable asset by way of as a reduced depreciation
charge expense.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

BEHIEEE Deferred Tax Liabilities
VER 1
REE tHERE EREEE kEE  EVEE Hity Azt
Property,
Mining Land use Right-of- plant and Intangible
rights rights use assets equipment asset Others Total
FEL FEL THL THEL FEL THL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
201951718 As at 1 January 2019 88,015 18,849 - (32,359) 80,106 11,731 166,348
BRNEEGHEREEE  Transfer upon adoption of
FI6RRER HKFRS16 - (18,849) 18,849 - - - -
GtN)/NBEABER  (Creditedycharged to the
(P3E11) consolidated statement of
profit or loss (Note 11) (2,189 - (603) 4,444 (19 (5,731) (4,098)
BHAR Exchange alignment (1,826) - (399) 867 (1,709) - (3,067)
72019128318 & As at 31 December 2019 and
202051A18 1 January 2020 84,000 - 17,847 (27,042) 78,378 6,000 159,183
GIN)/NBEABER  (Creditedycharged to the
(HizEn) consolidated statement of
profit or loss (Note 11) (1,782) - (4,344) 32,466 (19) (6,000) 20,321
AR Exchange alignment 5,524 - 764 (732) 5,222 - 10,778
120205124318 As at 31 December 2020 87,742 = 14,267 4,692 83,581 = 190,282
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36. ARFRA

36. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

EE: Authorised:
20191418 - Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
2019412 A31H - As at 1 January 2019,
2020F1A1H & 31 December 2019,
202012 A31H 1 January 2020 and
SR ME(E0.02% 7T 31 December 2020
2 E B R 10,000,000 200,000
ERTRHR: Issued and fully paid:
M2019F1A1H - As at 1 January 2019,
201912 A318 » 31 December 2019,
2020%F1A1B & 1 January 2020 and
2020912 A31H 31 December 2020 4,581,117 101,419
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37. R BRRARRESE 37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) BIBEMIE (a) Statement of Financial Position
®12 A31H As at 31 December
2020 2019
FET TFAE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
kRBEE Non-current assets
Y BB L& Property, plant and equipment 47 530
BB AR Z&E Investments in subsidiaries 2,108 2,108
2,155 2,638
REBEE Current assets
Hoth pE U BRIA - Other receivables, prepayments and
ENRBELRES deposits 2,087 1,302
JE W B B A Bl 5K IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,070,424 2,445,091
SRIT IR & &6 Bank and cash balances 80 50,709
2,072,591 2,497,102
REBAEE Current liabilities
b FE S 3B Other payables 99,616 25,700
JERTFTIS Income tax payable 2,974 2,974
BE Borrowings 772,676 648,598
Al E 5 Exchangeable bonds 108,576 120,640
983,842 797,912
RBEEZEE Net current assets 1,088,749 1,699,190
EEHERRBAS Total assets less current
liabilities 1,090,904 1,701,828
ERBERE Non-current liability
BE Borrowings - 130,000
= 130,000
EEFE Net assets 1,090,904 1,571,828
AATEBEAEERA Capital and reserves attributable
Ri#E to owners of the Company
[N Share capital 101,419 101,419
s Reserves 989,485 1,470,409

ERBE Total equity 1,090,904 1,571,828
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(b) fi#fe

(b) Reserves

R2019F1A1R As 1 January 2019 1,353,356 4,526 1,258 93,013 1,452,153
Frafl Profit for the year - - - 14,702 14,702
FRNEERREE Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - 14,702 14,702
BELERHFZZRXS  Equity settled share-based

transactions - - 3,554 - 3,564
R2019F12 318 & As at 31 December 2019 and

20201818 1 January 2020 1,353,356 4526 4,812 107,715 1,470,409

FRNER Loss for the year - - - (488,503) (488,503)
FR2ERXLE Total comprehensive expense

for the year - - - (488,503) (488,503)
RELERNNR2ES  Equity settled share-based

transactions - - 7,579 - 7,579
B K R i 4 Share options lapsed - - (1,301) 1,301 -
120205125318 As at 31 December 2020 1,353,356 4,526 11,090 (379,487) 989,485
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a)

Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 3
December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”) and on 26
June 2019 (the “New Scheme” or the “Scheme”)
respectively. The qualifying participants mainly
include employees of the Group, Directors and
contractors, suppliers or service providers of
the Group who have contribution to the Group.
Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired
on 3 December 2018 while the remaining life of
the New Scheme is approximately 9 years (expiry
on 26 June 2029). Options granted under the Old
Scheme before its expiry remain in force.

Options may be granted on such terms and
conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or
otherwise as the directors may determine in its
absolute discretion, provided that such terms and
conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other
terms conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
the date of offer of the option; (i) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 trading days immediately preceding the date of
offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of
a Share of HK$0.02. The maximum number of
Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not, in aggregate, exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. Upon acceptance of the offer
for the grant of option, an amount of HK$1.00 is
payable by the grantee to the Company.
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The Company can issue options so that the
total number of shares that may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme does not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue on the date of approval of the
Scheme. The Company may refresh this 10% limit
at any time, subject to shareholders’ approval and
the issue of a circular and in accordance with the
Listing Rules provided that the number of shares to
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes does not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to
time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised and
outstanding options under the Scheme) in the
twelve-month period expiring on the offer date
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Where any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, would result in
the securities issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of such
grant (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
relevant class of securities in issue; and (i) (where
the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the securities at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
options must be approved by shareholders of the
Company.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group
from the grant date of the share options up to the
designated exercise date.
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2020%F 2020
120204 FRRE ERTE EREXK 120204
1A18%E ZBRE ZBRE ZBERE 12B31BEE iEE
B
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at
1 January during during during 31 December Exercise
2020 the year the year the year 2020 price
HK$
Eite
The Old Scheme
(A) EE 8,567,059 - - (8,567,059) - 0.78258
Employees
(B) X
Directors
ElEe 6,389,145 - -  (6,389,145) - 0.78258
Lau Chi Kit
14,956,204 - -  (14,956,204) - 0.78258
EHE
The New Scheme
(A) EE 121,900,000 - - - 121,900,000 0.3
Employees
(B) BRI 110,000,000 - - - 110,000,000 0.3
Consultants (note i)
c) €%
Directors
M E 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 0.3
Chi Wen Fu
Lt 5 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 0.3
Shum Sai Chit
B 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 0.3
Chi Jing Chao
BEE 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Guo Mengyong
REA 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Cheung Sound Poon
Bt 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Sheng Hong
ElEe 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Lau Chi Kit
299,900,000 - - - 299,900,000 0.3
314,856,204 - - (14,956,204) 299,900,000
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20194

a5 EEERAER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limite

2019

Extal
The Old Scheme
(A) €& 8,567,059 - 8,567,059
Employees
(B) EE
Directors
Bk 6,389,145 - 6,389,145
Lau Chi Kit
14,956,204 - 14,956,204
#etE
The New Scheme
(A) EE - 121,900,000 121,900,000
Employees
(B) M (Fizti) - 110,000,000 110,000,000
Consultants (Note i)
c) €8
Directors
BN E - 20,000,000 20,000,000
Chi Wen Fu
Tt - 20,000,000 20,000,000
Shum Sai Chit
tE - 8,000,000 8,000,000
Chi Jing Chao
PEE - 5,000,000 5,000,000
Guo Mengyong
REAR - 5,000,000 5,000,000
Cheung Sound Poon
B - 5,000,000 5,000,000
Sheng Hong
2845 - 5,000,000 5,000,000
Lau Chi Kit
— 299,900,000 299,000,000
14,956,204 299,900,000 313,856,204

0.78258

0.78258

0.78258

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3
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On 25 July 2019, 3 consultants were granted
each with 45,000,000, 25,000,000 and
40,000,000 Share Options respectively. They are
body incorporated and independent third parties
to the Group who are rendering, including but
not limited to, services in relation to assisting of
all types of financing arrangement, introducing
of investors, and other financial services if
appropriate and available, etc.

The Company consider that in view of the limited
resources of the Group and to maintain a long
term growth, the Share Options granted to the
consultants can help to retain and motivates these
non-employees to generate growth in company
value. The Share Options was granted as incentive
for these consultants to provide ongoing service to
the Group and to maintain a long-term relationship
with them so that the Group can maintain a
streamline operation with stability. Apart from
the Share Options granted, the Company has
not provided any other remuneration to these
consultants for their services provided.

As at 31 December 2020, Options to subscribe for
a total of 299,000,000 (2019: 314,856,204) Shares
were outstanding under the New Scheme (2019:
New and Old Schemes).
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R20205F12 A31H » HARITIE AL AE
BUTEMBE « ITEHRITHEE -

el Ji& i B
Grant date Expiry date
Eita
The Old Scheme
20151 H6H 2020F10A31H
6 January 2015 31 October 2020
st a
The New Scheme
20195 7H25H 2025912 A30H
25 July 2019 30 December 2025

Options outstanding at 31 December 2020 have
the following expiry date, exercise period and
exercise prices.

171 2 FRRITEE BREE
Exercise prices Number of
Exercise period per Share Options
BT
HK$
B2015F11A1AE R 0.78258 -
2020104 31H

From 1 November 2015 to
31 October 2020

B2020F 11 A1HE 0.3 299,900,000
2025912 A30H

From 1 November 2020 to
30 December 2025

299,900,000

PAFERBEE - FaHEE T AT
ZARR G B (BIE Bl RTT
{FEE AL #E) 5458,111,6848% - HHE R
RARIEBEEITRAL10% © Fat
EI 15 R 2029F6 A26H @M °

As at the date of the annual report, the total number
of Shares of the Company available for issue under
the New Scheme (including the above Options
outstanding not yet exercised) was 458,111,684,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as of the date thereof. The
New Scheme will expire on 26 June 2029.
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The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2019 under the New Scheme
determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
model was approximately HK$21,291,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price
of HK$0.223, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility is 42.352%, annual
risk-free interest rate of 1.367%. Expected life of
Options of approximately 6.438 years and dividend
payout ratio of 0%. The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of expected share price returns
is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
from 25 July 2016 to 25 July 2019. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, approximately
HK$7,579,000 (2019: HK$3,511,000) were charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015 under the Old Scheme
determined using the Black-Scholes valuation
model was approximately HK$3,660,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price
of HK$0.69, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
43.47% to 49.69%, annual risk-free interest rate
of 0.71% to 1.39%. Expected life of Options of
approximately 2.32 to 5.32 years and dividend
payout ratio of 1.29%. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 19 August 2009 to 28 August
2012. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
approximately HK$Nil (2019: HK$43,000) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
aggregate amount of approximately HK$7,579,000
(2019: HK$3,554,800) were charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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(b) HERAZBIREE

BERK

BRSIREBESFSEIERASEE
MERENER  TRHELCEES
B2 EERINEBERER W
B A2017F 12 B4B R4 BE AR 1 5t
B ([ ERIEETE)) - A EK2EHE
FERERE EE - ABH - #HE
RIS EN - FEEEAWNE
B EEERER - % ER G2
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El AT FHIL B7TF (R2027F12 A4
BIEm) °
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group
of REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option scheme
on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT Scheme”). The
qualifying participants mainly include employees,
directors, contractors, suppliers or service
providers who have contribution to the Group
of REMT. The REMT Scheme, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years since its establishing date. The remaining
life of the REMT Scheme is approximately 7 years
(expiry on 4 December 2027).

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised and
outstanding options under the REMT Scheme) in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
REMT. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of REMT, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the securities issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the twelve-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (i) (where the securities are
listed on the Stock Exchange), having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the securities
at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of options must be approved by
shareholders of REMT.
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As at 31 December 2020, options to subscribe for
a total of 356,400,000 Shares were outstanding
under the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”).

20204 2020
20205 FRREEZ FRTEZ FREMZ R2020%
11855 HENEBRE FENEERE RENEEBRE 12831855 TEE
BT
Held at REMT Options REMT Options REMT Options Held at
1 January granted during exercised during lapsed during 31 December Exercise
2020 the year the year the year 2020 price
HK$
(A) EE 163,400,000 - - - 163,400,000 0.4
Employees 40,000,000 = = (40,000,000) = 0.5
150,000,000 - (10,000,000) - 140,000,000 0.3
(B) EE
Directors
ot R 30,000,000 - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
R 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao
REAR 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
BENBENES 20,000,000 - - (5,000,000) 15,000,000 0.4
Other directors of REMT
221,400,000 = = (5,000,000) 216,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 = = (40,000,000) = 0.5
150,000,000 = (10,000,000) - 140,000,000 0.3
411,400,000 - (10,000,000)  (45,000,000) 356,400,000
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20194

2019

(A) B8 146,400,000 - - - 17,000,000 163,400,000
Employees 40,000,000 - - - - 40,000,000
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - 150,000,000
(B) £
Directors
pfug7 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000
Shum Sai Chit
SoF B (M L) - - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000
Chi Jing Chao (note ii)
EZ (&) 20,000,000 - - - (20,000,000) -
Chi Bi Fen (note i)
REA 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000
Cheung Sound Poon
BHEMRENES 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000
Other directors of REMT
221,400,000 - - - - 221,400,000
40,000,000 - - - - 40,000,000
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000 - 150,000,000
261,400,000 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - 411,400,000
B 3 note:

()  R2019F6H26HERE

(i)  R2019F6A2THEE T

Retired on 26 June 2019

Appointed on 27 June 2019

0.4
0.5
0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4
0.5
0.3
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REMT Options outstanding at 31 December 2020
have the following expiry date, exercise period and
exercise prices.

201845250 2023412 A429H B2018F11A1E R E 04 216,400,000
202312 29H
25 April 2018 29 December 2023  From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
20195 7H25H 202248 A31H B2019%9H1H R % 0.3 140,000,000
20224 8H31H
25 July 2019 31 August 2022 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2022
356,400,000

RAFEHRBH  ZHERETEE
THHEITZHER R M AR (e
BEAMATERSEREERE) A
813,839,0050% - HHE R B H B K &
BE TR ALN12.4% ° % W xR
B8l 28 TFEBHOBTF T BR
2027 F12 A4HE M °

As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of shares of REMT available for issue
under the REMT Scheme (including the above
REMT Options outstanding not yet exercised) was
813,839,005, representing approximately 12.4% of
the issued share capital of REMT as of the date
thereof. The remaining life of the REMT Scheme
is approximately 7 years and to be expired on 4
December 2027.
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HE2019F12A31BIEFEMKRE 2
MEREERE TR -EXARE
TEERAETEQNEAL13,509,000
B e MAZGAERANEEFER
ZANETBAMRE2858 L (B
MBOOFHEZEELRAR) L
1TEE - FEERER BN 146.729%
%£54.568% * FE R £1.459%
£1.758% ° YI1IE31FFE xR
BB RS b A HR K PR OB R 25 K164 o
EEARERNKNHEEREMTZ
RURIE - ThiR #E 201012 A1 &
2019F 7TH25 A B HREMN ST o
MErEEW -

H 22018F12A31H It FE i E
IHEBEREERE EAMOR -
FRMEERAETAAEAY
21,558,000/ 7T ° B AZ A EER K
BEERZRARKBRLEREHNRE
0.3258 T (BRI DT 21EH
) LaiTEE - BHRERS
I HA42107% F£47.596% ~ 4F [Z £ @
% K| R1.561% £1.999% ° #J1.52%
568 FEAHEREEREFHR
TRBE - LIBHAMRE D RO IEE
IREMETEAEE - THRIEAR2012F
10A24H £20184F 48258 W& A I
BRI HPMTESE -

HEC020F12A3IHILEE - 45
#93,975,0007% 7T (20194F : 19,415,000
BIDBERTAGABRERA -
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The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2019 determined
using the Binomial Option Pricing model was
approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.1 to 3.1 years and
dividend vyield of 1.64. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July
2019.

The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2018 determined
using the Black-Scholes valuation model was
approximately HK$21,558,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.325, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
42107% to 47.596%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.561% to 1.999%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.52 to 5.68 years and
dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 24 October 2012 to 25 April
2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
aggregate amount of approximately HK$3,975,000
(2019: HK$19,415,000) were charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

BEIHEEARNEE B IRER  Capital expenditure in respect of

BEZERKEYE  BEM
REZEAX

the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment contracted for but

not provided in the consolidated

financial statements

2020 2019
TER THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
285,688 206,808

EXAEAIXZIRBAERS

REEMBEBRRAEEEIN  FALXEH
BETUATEZHEEALRS °

(a) FEEZANEMZ

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the following

significant related party transactions during the year.

(a) Key Management Compensation

2020 2019

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

(&E75)

(Restated)

EE(MF13) Directors (Note 13) 6,215 6,891
HMWEEZERAE: Other key management personnel:

HeMEMBEREERF  Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 4,076 10,688
10,291 17,579

(b) X ELRECRBERSREAREL &
o AR E]Z P R &R K
FEREBERMR FBHLAME
32 °

REEEMEXSMERABESZTERA
A ETR A E14AT2E - EER B
EHARBEZERBEALRS  BTFTE
EHRAEUAT T E RN RER S AH

(b) Mr. Chi Wen Fu has given an undertaking to IFC
to maintain a minimum level of shareholding in
the Company as collateral of the borrowings as

detailed in Note 32.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Directors consider
that none of the material related party transactions
disclosed above falls under the definition of connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction as

defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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41. ¥BREXRS

B E2020F 12 A3 IEFEAR  KAEEW

BEAFRAERS -

42. HAMEBEEHCIENABEHIR

41. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
did not have material non-cash transaction.

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

EfEER
RRHE "E TERES HEAME st
Amount
due to a
non-controlling Exchangeable Lease
shareholder Borrowings bonds liabilities Total
TAT TAT THEL THEL TAEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
#2019F1A1H As at 1 January 2019 799 1,814,609 250,464 6,991 2,072,863
BEREME Financing cash flow - 263,148 (158,149) (2,798) 102,201
SMERE Foreign exchange adjustments - (17,514) - (141) (17,655)
ERegE Other non-cash movement - - 28,325 3,780 32,105
20201 /1A At 1 January 2020 799 2,060,243 120,640 7,832 2,189,514
BEREME Financing cash flow - (91,651) (12,064) (2,587) (106,302)
HMERE Foreign exchange adjustments 4 63,621 - 409 64,034
HFRE2DH Other non-cash movement - 108,576 (108,576) 894 894
#2020F12F31A Net debt as at
FEE 31 December 2020 803 2,140,789 - 6,548 2,148,140
B 7 - note:

AEBEBRALBIRWEVSERBEENE
REAERIFE165% A R FHER2019F1S1HMF
M UERELHRIES BT ERHE17
FoAKEHEZHEFHNEERRE - 2

Bar & B 7% R MY RE2 -

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there is
a decrease in equity interest of 0.11% in Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited by the
Group as a result of exercise of share options by its
employees. As a result of these transactions the Group
recognised an increase in non-controlling interest of
approximately HK$1,551,000 and an increase in other
reserve of approximately HK$2,006,000

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
has further acquired 10.41% of LA HIERIHER
AT, 1041% of ERTA B RABRAT and 4.80%
of IFAAHEREERBRRAA. As a result of these
transactions, the Group recognised a decrease in
non-controlling interests of approximately HK$11,062,000
and an increase in other reserve of approximately
HK$11,062,000.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Reference was made to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 October 2014 regarding a civil claim
against Capital Idea Investments Limited (“Capital Idea”).
As of the date of the consolidated financial statement,
to the best knowledge of the Company, the writ of
summons of the litigation has not yet been served on
Capital Idea. Upon receiving this legal document, Capital
Idea will seek legal advice in relation to the claim and
the necessary actions to be taken in this respect and will
vigorously defend against the claim. The directors are of
the view that this claim will not have a material adverse
impact on the business, operation and financial position
of the Group.
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45.

XEBIMEBHEANTE - BR—LIRTT
BRASEEANEARIRANER - X H
MEBARNEY) EERIFNVEREE
e BEARESHY  AKENE AR R
B i E R IR 1T LR TR FUB B
EHDIERGE  BRETEEL YRR
RUHE  EFTRA/RREEREKEN
IREZTEBREANMNEE -

BREXFEEEIN  EERREEREH
M BENANEREREREEEXNEATH
FEMNBRFR -

REHREER

202152 A25R8 « M £ B B (— fE B A
NEIFZEREZWE AT WEHA
Global Investment SPC(F]#Haitong Global
Investment SP(Ill))fX & Al Investment Fund
SP.T2BFANTERA/ENZER2021F2
A22AmMBEBFRTTHE®SF AR (V£
HEBMBENRBRERZEF(E2H]D %X
ERESHEREER - HHEMERFER
RZEBTBERMERFEREERTEFEA
EFERE(EENT)RENEREERKEZMAF
B N e R F| B 48 %820,707,777.78% L &
BEBEDREBEEFAMEAREA) BM
B (BB T A)R2017F8A7HET L 2
7 2020% Bi A € 20,000,000 7T, 2. 7% FE 14
BERERFEERRBRRED - 28R
20216 A2A AR ETTRR A o Wi B B
FR L EFBSFEEZER -

45.

Subject to the impact of overseas debt restructuring,
some onshore bank creditors had requested some
onshore subsidiaries of the Group to repay before
maturity and had applied for taking property preservation
measures on certain assets of some onshore subsidiaries
pre-litigation. As at the date of this report, the subsidiaries
had negotiated and reached mutual consents with the
bank creditors in relation to the repayment terms and
the parties were working on finalising the extension
agreement. The Director are of the view that the
preservation measures will not have a significant adverse
effect on the normal operation of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that
up to report date there were no significant litigations
would have material adverse impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 February 2021, REMT, a non-wholly subsidiary of
the Company, received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by
Al Global Investment SPC (formerly known as Haitong
Global Investment SP(lll)) acting on behalf of and for the
account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the “Petitioner”) on
22 February 2021 against REMT in the Court for an order
that REMT be wound up by the Court. The Petition was
filed against REMT for its failure to repay the Petitioner
an outstanding principal of the Notes (as defined
below) together with the unpaid interest and default
interest in an aggregate amount of US$20,707,777.78,
which was pursuant to a subscription agreement of 7%
unsubordinated and unsecured notes due 2020 in a
principal amount of US$20,000,000 entered into between
the Petitioner as subscriber and REMT as the issuer
dated 7 August 2017. The Petition will be heard before
the Court on 2 June 2021. REMT is in the course of
seeking legal advice in respect of the above matter.
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46. COMPARATIVES

47.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE
OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements was approved and
authorised for issued by the board of directors on 26
March 2021.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
FEx THET THET THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B Z12531A 1t £&F  For the year ended 31 December
A Revenue 2,151,811 4314420 4655116 3443219 2,589,221
HEMA Cost of sales (1,848,286) (3,251,036) (3,512,857) (2,591,833) (1,829,360)
EF Gross profit 303,525 1,063,384 1,142,259 851,386 759,861
Hi g A KUz F%  Other income and gains, net (745,023) 92,128 75,324 113,750 67,884
HERTBEEER Selling and marketing costs (55,377) (107,917) (133,673)  (139,056) (93,911)
THRX Administrative expenses (251,607)  (302,330) (227,127) (275,998) (159,379)
%R Finance costs (179,501)  (153,664) (164,943) (150,678) (117,564)
BrETSHA(BE),/ (Loss)/profit before income tax
i Kl (927,983) 591,601 691,840 399,404 456,891
8B Income tax expense (56,222)  (163,347) (150,318) (144,292) (143,839)
SELEER Profit for the year from
F R Fl continuing operations - - 541,522 255,112 -
BRIEEEER 2 Profit for the year from
F R F discontinued operations - - 31,315 6,510 -
FNEE),EF (Loss)/profit for the year (984,205) 428,254 572,837 261,622 313,052
THATEEER (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
(B#8),/ &H:
NNSIERUN Owners of the Company (745,368) 380,368 474,230 260,316 302,334
IR Non-controlling interests (238,837) 47,886 98,607 1,306 10,718
BR(EE)/BF : (Loss)/earnings per share:
- BAR(GREM) - basic (HK cents per share) (16.27) 8.30 10.35 5.67 6.57
- BE (BB - diluted (HK cents per share) (16.27) 8.30 10.35 5.67 6.57
R12531H As at 31 December
EEBE Total assets 6,934,475 7,627,565 7474567 7,502,278 5,246,469
aEBeE Total liabilities (3,347,477) (3,357,654) (3,517,949) (3,848,850) (2,192,003)
BmeE Total equity 3,586,998 4,269,911 3,956,618 3,653,428 3,054,466






